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Dear shareholders,

Without a doubt the last 18 months of living and operating 
during the global pandemic have created an unprecedented 
level of uncertainty for all of us. This is the reason why I am so 
appreciative and inspired by the level of commitment I have 
witnessed from the Mesoblast team. Our people have remained 
focussed, dedicated, and committed to our goal of bringing 
lifesaving medicines to patients with inflammatory diseases  
that have high unmet need and are often accompanied by  
high risk of mortality.

During the last twelve months much has been achieved.  
The Mesoblast team has continued to work tirelessly towards  
a potential resubmission of the Biologics License Application 
(BLA) for steroid-refractory graft versus host disease 
(SR-aGVHD), having received the complete response letter 
last year, despite a successful advisory committee meeting 
convened by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). 
We look forward to our upcoming discussions with the FDA, 
and believe we are well positioned to adequately address the 
remaining items regarding chemistry, manufacturing,  
and controls (CMC), including potency assays.

With an understanding of shared mechanisms of inflammation 
responsible for various diseases, we effectively leveraged our 
extensive body of clinical data in the treatment of SR-aGVHD 
to rapidly pivot to evaluating the potential of remestemcel-L to 
reduce mortality in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) 
due to COVID-19. Despite the complexity of running a large 
trial during a pandemic whilst treatment modalities continually 
evolved, we were able to identify a strong signal of efficacy  
in younger patients with inflammation where mortality remains  
a major unmet need. This exemplifies the strength and  
breadth of our platform technology and our ability to adapt  
to emerging challenges and opportunities.

We are particularly pleased to see the peer reviewed recognition 
of our rexlemestrocel-L Phase 3 chronic heart failure (CHF) trial 
results which will be showcased in a late-breaking session at 
the American Heart Association’s (AHA) Scientific Sessions, 
regarded as the world’s most prestigious cardiovascular 
meeting. The featured session is titled ‘Building on the 
Foundations of Treatment: Advances in Heart Failure Therapy.’ 
Separately, the Mesoblast team will present these clinical  
results to the FDA in order to receive guidance on the pathway 
to potential approval for rexlemestrocel-L in the treatment  
of CHF.

These achievements are the result of continued strategic 
investment in our pipeline and into the manufacturing objectives 
that underpin our ability to bring our late-stage product 

candidates to market. The company is well positioned in  
the next six to twelve months to make substantial progress  
in its plans for product commercialization.

Remestemcel-L

Results published in the September issue of the peer-reviewed 
journal Bone Marrow Transplantation showed that children with 
SR-aGVHD and biomarkers predictive for highest mortality had 
64% survival when treated with remestemcel-L compared with 
only 10% survival when treated with other available therapies, 
including ruxolitinib or other biologics.

These data provide further support for the proposed anti-
inflammatory mechanism of action of remestemcel-L and its 
immunomodulatory activity in patients with SR-aGVHD, resulting 
in improved survival outcomes. At our upcoming scheduled 
meeting with FDA’s Office of Tissue and Advanced Therapies 
(OTAT), Mesoblast will address the appropriateness of potency 
assays related to remestemcel-L’s proposed anti-inflammatory 
mechanism of action as well as the outstanding CMC items 
which could support a resubmission of the current BLA for 
remestemcel-L in the treatment of SR-aGVHD in children.

Results from the randomized controlled trial of remestemcel-L 
in 222 ventilator-dependent COVID-19 patients with moderate/
severe ARDS provided 90-day survival outcomes showing 
remestemcel-L significantly reduced mortality by 48% at 90 
days compared to controls in a pre-specified exploratory 
analysis of 123 treated patients under 65 years old. Despite a 
treatment-related improvement in respiratory function at day 7, 
there was no mortality reduction in the 97 treated patients over 
age 65, suggesting the potential need for more prolonged or 
higher dosing of anti-inflammatory therapy in these patients  
who may have a more exuberant inflammatory response 
associated with defective immune-mediated viral clearance 
mechanisms.

These results were discussed in our most recent meeting with 
the FDA where clarity was provided on the pathway towards 
an emergency use authorization (EUA) for remestemcel-L 
in the treatment of COVID ARDS. The FDA advised that an 
additional clinical study would be required which, if statistically 
positive, could provide a dataset in conjunction with the recently 
completed study that might be sufficient to support an EUA.

During the year, Mesoblast entered into a license and 
collaboration agreement with Novartis for the development, 
manufacture, and commercialization of remestemcel-L, with 
an initial focus on the treatment of acute respiratory distress 
syndrome including that associated with COVID-19. The 
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Manufacturing commercialization

Manufacturing commercialization expenses were $32.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with $25.3 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $7.4 million as we invested in manufacturing of remestemcel-L as part of our 
readiness strategy for potential FDA approval and incurred costs on potency assay work that will support both the aGVHD Biologics 
License Application (“BLA”) resubmission and the Investigational New Drug (“IND”) for the Phase 3 trial COVID ARDS and 
completed process development to increase yields necessary for long-term commercial supply. 

  
Year ended

June 30,        
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Manufacturing commercialization:               
Platform technology   30,842   23,342   7,500  32%
Manufacturing support costs   1,877   1,967   (90)  (5%)

Manufacturing commercialization  $ 32,719  $ 25,309   7,410  29%

Platform technology costs, which consist of fees paid to our contract manufacturing organizations and for laboratory supplies 
used in manufacturing commercialization of our MPC and MSC based products, increased by $7.5 million for the year ended June 30, 
2021 compared with year ended June 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to increased spend for manufacturing of remestemcel-
L as part of our readiness strategy for potential FDA approval, potency assay work that will support both the aGVHD BLA 
resubmission and the IND for the Phase 3 trial COVID ARDS and increased costs for process development of our proprietary 
technology that facilitates the increase in yields necessary for the long-term commercial supply of its product candidates, and next 
generation manufacturing processes to reduce labor, drive down cost of goods and improve manufacturing efficiencies. 

Manufacturing support costs, which consist primarily of salaries and related overhead expenses for personnel in manufacturing 
commercialization functions remained relatively consistent for the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with the year ended June 30, 
2020.

Management and administration

Management and administration expenses were $30.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with $25.6 million for 
the year ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $5.3 million. This increase was primarily due to an increase in share-based payments and 
legal and professional fees.  

 
 

Year ended
June 30,        

(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Management and administration:               
Labor and associated expenses   13,935   13,409   526  4%
Corporate overheads   10,690   8,891   1,799  20%
Legal and professional fees   6,242   3,309   2,933  89%

Management and administration  $ 30,867  $ 25,609   5,258  21%

Labor and associated expenses increased by $0.5 million from $13.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2020 to $13.9 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2021. This $0.5 million increase in the year ended June 30, 2021 is primarily due to an increase of $0.7 
million in share-based payment expenses and $0.2 million in director fees. These increases were offset by a decrease of $0.5 million in 
consulting expenses and $0.3 million in recruitment. There was also a decrease in overall costs of salaries and associated expenses by 
$0.5 million in the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with the year ended June 30, 2020 due to full time equivalents decreasing by 
0.5 (2%) from 26.9 for the year ended June 30, 2020 to 26.4 for the year ended June 30, 2021. Labor and associated expenses also 
experienced unfavorable exchange rate fluctuations of $0.9 million in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with the year ended 
June 30, 2020, as the A$ strengthened against the US$ given the majority of management and administration expenses are incurred in 
A$ by our headquarter office located in Australia.

Corporate overhead expenses increased by $1.8 million from $8.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2020 to $10.7 million for 
the year ended June 30, 2021 primarily due to an increase in insurance premiums and depreciation expenses.   

Legal and professional fees increased by $2.9 million from $3.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2020 to $6.2 million for the 
year ended June 30, 2021 primarily due to increased legal and other advisory fees associated with one-off regulatory, partnering and 
financing activities incurred during the year ended June 30, 2021.



72

Fair value remeasurement of contingent consideration

Fair value remeasurement of contingent consideration was a $18.7 million gain for the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with 
a $1.3 million gain for the year ended June 30, 2020. The $18.7 million gain for the year ended June 30, 2021 was due to the 
remeasurement of contingent consideration pertaining to the acquisition of assets from Osiris. This gain was a net result of changing 
the key assumptions of the contingent consideration valuation such as probability of success and development timelines primarily as a 
result of receiving the Complete Response Letter from the FDA on the BLA for remestemcel-L for the treatment of pediatric SR-
aGVHD on September 30, 2020. 

The $1.3 million gain for the year ended June 30, 2020 was due to the remeasurement of contingent consideration pertaining to 
the acquisition of assets from Osiris. This gain is a net result of changes to the key assumptions of the contingent consideration 
valuation such as development timelines, market penetration, product pricing and the increase in valuation as the time period shortens 
between the valuation date and the potential settlement dates of contingent consideration. 

With respect to future milestone payments, contingent consideration will be payable in cash or shares at our discretion. With 
respect to commercialization, product royalties will be payable in cash which will be funded from royalties received from net sales.

Other operating income and expenses

In other operating income and expenses, we recognized income of $1.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with 
$0.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2020, an increase in income of $1.2 million. The following table shows movements within 
other operating income and expenses for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, together with the changes in those items:

  
Year ended

June 30,        
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Other operating income and expenses:               
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (net)   (1,471)   (246)   (1,225)  NM
Government grant revenue   (68)   (78)   10  (13%)

Other operating (income) and expenses  $ (1,539)  $ (324)   (1,215)  NM

* NM = not meaningful.

We are subject to foreign exchange gains and losses on foreign currency cash balances, creditors and debtors. In the year ended 
June 30, 2020, we recognized a foreign exchange gain of $0.2 million. In the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized a foreign 
exchange gain of $1.5 million, primarily due to movements in exchange rates on US$ deposits held in Mesoblast Limited, whose 
functional currency is the A$, as the A$ appreciated against the US$.

Finance costs

  
Year ended

June 30,        
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Finance costs:               
Remeasurement of borrowing arrangements   (5,225)   (607)   (4,618)  NM
Interest expense   15,939   14,716   1,223  8%

Finance costs  $ 10,714  $ 14,109   (3,395)  (24%)

* NM = not meaningful.

In the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized an overall $5.2 million gain for remeasurement of borrowing arrangements in 
relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash flows from our 
existing credit facilities with Hercules and NovaQuest, an increase of $4.6 million as compared with a $0.6 million gain for the year 
ended June 30, 2020.

Within the $5.2 million gain in the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized a $4.8 million gain for remeasurement of 
borrowing arrangements in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated 
future cash flows as a net result of changes to the key assumption in development timelines in relation to our existing credit facility 
with NovaQuest. In the year ended June 30, 2020, we recognized a $0.7 million loss for remeasurement of borrowing arrangements in 
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relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash flows in relation 
to our existing credit facility with NovaQuest.

Also within the $5.2 million gain in the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized a gain of $0.4 million for remeasurement of 
borrowing arrangements in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated 
future cash flows from our existing credit facilities with Hercules, a decrease of $0.9 million as compared with a gain of $1.3 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

Interest expense increased by $1.2 million from $14.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2020 to $15.9 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2021. 

Within the $15.9 million interest expenses in the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized $8.3 million of interest expense in 
relation to our loan and security agreement with Hercules, an increase of $0.3 million as compared with $8.0 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2020. Within this $8.3 million recognized in the year ended June 30, 2021, $4.9 million was recognized with regard to 
interest expense payable on the loan balance within the year and a further $3.4 million of interest expense was recognized with regard 
to the amortization of transaction costs incurred on the outstanding loan principal for the year ended June 30, 2021 using the effective 
interest rate method over the period of initial recognition through maturity. 

Also within the $15.9 million interest expense in the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized $7.0 million of interest expense 
in relation to our loan and security agreement with NovaQuest, an increase of $0.8 million as compared with $6.2 million for the year 
ended June 30, 2020. Interest expense relating to the NovaQuest loan are accrued on the loan principal balance and all interest 
payments will be deferred until after the first commercial sale of our allogeneic product candidate remestemcel-L for the treatment of 
pediatric patients with SR-aGVHD in the United States and other geographies excluding Asia (“pediatric SR-aGVHD”).

In the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, in line with IFRS 16 Leases, we also recognized interest expense of $0.6 million and 
$0.5 million in relation to lease charges, respectively.

Loss after income tax

  
Year ended

June 30,        
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Loss before income tax   (99,630)  (87,355)  (12,275) 14%
Income tax benefit   819   9,415   (8,596) (91%)

Loss after income tax  $ (98,811) $ (77,940)  (20,871) 27%

Loss before income tax was $99.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with $87.3 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2020, an increase in the loss by $12.3 million. This increase is the net effect of the changes in revenues and expenses that 
have been discussed above.

A non-cash income tax benefit of $0.8 million was recognized in the year ended June 30, 2021, in relation to the net change in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet during the period. 

A non-cash income tax benefit of $9.4 million was recognized in the year ended June 30, 2020 in relation to the net change in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet during the period.

Comparison of Our Results for the Year ended June 30, 2020 with the Year ended June 30, 2019 

For results of operations for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, together with the changes in those items in dollars and as a 
percentage and the related discussions on these results, refer to Results of Operations within “Item 5.A Operating Results” in our 
annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended June 30, 2020, filed with the SEC on September 3, 2020. 

Certain Differences Between IFRS and U.S. GAAP

IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP in certain respects. Management has not assessed the materiality of differences between IFRS 
and U.S. GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are described in “Item 18 Financial Statements – Note 22”.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

The following sections provide quantitative information on our exposure to interest rate risk, share price risk, and foreign 
currency exchange risk. We make use of sensitivity analyses which are inherently limited in estimating actual losses in fair value that 
can occur from changes in market conditions. For further assessment on our market risks, see “Item 18. Financial Statements – Note 
10(a).”

Foreign currency exchange risk

We have foreign currency amounts owing relating to clinical, regulatory and overhead activities and foreign currency deposits 
held primarily in our Australian based entity, whose functional currency is the A$. We also have foreign currency amounts in our 
Switzerland and Singapore based entities, whose functional currencies are the US$. These foreign currency balances give rise to a 
currency risk, which is the risk of the exchange rate moving, in either direction, and the impact it may have on our financial 
performance.

We manage the currency risk by evaluating levels to hold in each currency by assessing our future activities which will likely be 
incurred in those currencies which enables us to minimize foreign currency deposits held in each entity. 

Interest rate risk

Our main interest rate risk arises from the portion of our long-term borrowings with a floating interest rate, which exposes us to 
cash flow interest rate risk. As interest rates fluctuate, the amount of interest payable on financing where the interest rate is not fixed 
will also fluctuate. Interest rate risk can be managed by interest rate swaps, which can be entered into to convert the floating interest 
rate to a fixed interest rate as required. Additionally, we can repay the loan facility at our discretion and we can also refinance if we 
are able to achieve terms suitable to us in the marketplace or from our existing lenders. 

Upon entering the agreement with Hercules, we completed a cost benefit analysis of entering an interest rate swap arrangement. 
We did not enter into any interest rate swaps during the year ended June 30, 2021.

We are also exposed to interest rate risk that arises through movements in interest income we earn on our deposits. The interest 
income derived from these balances can fluctuate due to interest rate changes. This interest rate risk is managed by periodically 
reviewing interest rates available for suitable interest bearing accounts to ensure we earn interest at market rates. We ensure that 
sufficient funds are available, in at call accounts, to meet our working capital requirements. 

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that future cash flows derived from financial instruments will be altered as a result of a market price 
movement, which is defined as movements other than foreign currency rates and interest rates. We are exposed to price risk which 
arises from long-term borrowings under our facility with NovaQuest, where the timing and amount of principal and interest payments 
is dependent on net sales of remestemcel-L for the treatment of pediatric SR-aGVHD. As net sales of remestemcel-L for the treatment 
of SR-aGVHD in pediatric patients in these territories increase/decrease, the timing and amount of principal and interest payments 
relating to this type of financing arrangement will also fluctuate, resulting in an adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial 
liability. The adjustment is recognized in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs and 
expenses in the period the revision is made.  

We are also exposed to price risk on contingent consideration provision balances, as expected unit revenues are a significant 
unobservable input used in the level 3 fair value measurements.  

We do not consider any exposure to price risk other than those already described above.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, other than the 
purchase commitments and contingent liabilities as mentioned below.



75

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

Contractual commitments:

Purchase commitments means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding that specifies 
all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the 
approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase obligations are not recognized as liabilities at June 30, 2021. 

In December 2019, we commenced production under our manufacturing service agreement with Lonza for the supply of 
commercial product for the potential approval and launch of remestemcel-L for the treatment of pediatric SR-aGVHD in the US 
market. As a result of receiving the Complete Response Letter from the FDA on the BLA for remestemcel-L on September 30, 2020, 
in March 2021 we entered an agreement to reduce the remaining minimum financial commitment of our manufacturing service 
agreement with Lonza through to November 2021, with an option to extend the non-cancellable term to June 2024 at our discretion. In 
June 2021, we exercised the option to extend the non-cancellable term of this agreement to June 2024. 

This agreement contains lease and non-lease components. As of June 2021, the agreement contains a minimum remaining 
financial commitment of the non-lease component of $24.0 million, disclosed within the total contractual cashflows on an 
undiscounted basis as purchase commitments. We have accounted for the lease component within the agreement as a lease liability 
separately from the non-lease components. As of June 30, 2021, the minimum financial commitment of the lease component is $5.0 
million on an undiscounted basis, as disclosed within the total contractual cash flows as lease liabilities. 

We have agreements with third parties related to contract manufacturing and other goods and services. As of June 30, 2021, we 
had $9.6 million of non-cancellable purchase commitments related to raw materials, manufacturing agreements and other goods and 
services, which are expected to be paid through 2022. This amount represents our minimum contractual obligations, including 
termination fees. Certain agreements provide for termination rights subject to termination fees. Under such agreement, we are 
contractually obligated to make certain payments, mainly, to reimburse them for their unrecoverable outlays incurred prior to 
cancellation.

We do not have any other purchase commitments as of June 30, 2021.

Lease commitment – as lessee:

We lease various offices under non-cancellable leases expiring within 1 to 5 years. The leases have varying terms, escalation 
clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. We also lease a manufacturing suite under the non-
cancellable manufacturing services agreement with Lonza for the supply of commercial product for the potential approval and launch 
of remestemcel-L for the treatment of pediatric SR-aGVHD in the US market expiring within 3 years. 

Contingent liabilities

We acquired certain intellectual property relating to our MPCs, or Medvet IP, pursuant to an Intellectual Property Assignment 
Deed, or IP Deed, with Medvet Science Pty Ltd, or Medvet. Medvet’s rights under the IP Deed were transferred to Central Adelaide 
Local Health Network Incorporated, or CALHNI, in November 2011. In connection with our use of the Medvet IP, on completion of 
certain milestones we will be obligated to pay CALHNI, as successor in interest to Medvet, (i) certain aggregated milestone payments 
of up to $2.2 million and single-digit royalties on net sales of products covered by the Medvet IP, for cardiac muscle and blood vessel 
applications and bone and cartilage regeneration and repair applications, subject to minimum annual royalties beginning in the first 
year of commercial sale of those products and (ii) single-digit royalties on net sales of the specified products for applications outside 
the specified fields. 

We have entered into a number of agreements with other third parties pertaining to intellectual property. Contingent liabilities 
may arise in the future if certain events or developments occur in relation to these agreements and as of June 30, 2021 we have 
assessed that the probability of outflows is remote.

Capital commitments

We did not have any commitments for future capital expenditure outstanding as of June 30, 2021. 
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Australian Disclosure Requirements

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

There have been no significant changes within the state of our affairs during the year ended June 30, 2021 except as noted in the 
“Important Corporate Developments” section included in Item 4.A.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations

In September 2020, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) issued a Complete Response Letter to our Biologics 
License Application (“BLA”) filing of remestemcel-L for the treatment of children with steroid-refractory acute graft versus host 
disease (“SR-aGVHD”), a life-threatening complication of an allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Despite the overwhelming 
Oncologic Drugs Advisory Committee (“ODAC”) of the FDA vote in August 2020, the FDA recommended that we conduct at least 
one additional randomized, controlled study in adults and/or children to provide further evidence of effectiveness of remestemcel-L 
for SR-aGVHD. We continue to be in discussion with the FDA through a well-established regulatory process that may include a 
resubmission with a six month review with the aim of achieving approval of remestemcel-L in the treatment of SR-aGVHD in 
children.

Other significant milestones are expected in the upcoming financial year in relation to our other Tier 1 product candidates, as 
detailed elsewhere in this report.

Environmental Regulations

Our operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth of Australia or 
State/Territory legislation. We consider that adequate systems are in place to manage our obligations and are not aware of any breach 
of environmental requirements pertaining to us.

5.B Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity

We held total cash and cash equivalents of $136.9 million as of June 30, 2021. Over the next twelve months in order to meet our 
forecast expenditure, including repayment of the Hercules debt facility, cash inflows will be required. Management and the directors 
believe we will achieve this given plans to complete either one or more strategic partnerships or restructure existing loan agreements, 
and have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis. The dependency on these planned objectives indicates material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt (or substantial doubt as contemplated by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(“PCAOB”) standards) on our ability to continue as a going concern and that we may be unable to realize our assets and discharge our 
liabilities in the normal course of business. For our audited financial statements, see “Item 18 Financial Statements” included in our 
Form 20-F.

Our primary sources of liquidity have historically been equity raisings, upfront and milestone payments from strategic license 
agreements and borrowings under our loan agreements. We also expect net sales to become a source of liquidity. While in the long-
term we expect to be able to complete transactions, draw upon these facilities and achieve approval of our product candidates to 
provide liquidity as needed, there can be no assurance as to whether we will be successful or, if successful, what the terms or proceeds 
may be.

Cash flows

 
 

Year ended
June 30,        

(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change

Cash Flow Data:               
Net cash (outflows) in operating activities   (106,681)   (56,365)   (50,316)  89%
Net cash (outflows) in investing activities   (1,647)   (3,273)   1,626  (50%)
Net cash inflows by financing activities   114,466   137,044   (22,578)  (16%)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   6,138   77,406   (71,268)  (92%)
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Comparison of cash flows for the Year ended June 30, 2021 with the Year ended June 30, 2020

Net cash outflows in operating activities

Net cash outflows for operating activities were $106.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with $56.4 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $50.3 million. The increase of $50.3 million is due to an increase in cash outflows of 
$29.2 million and a decrease in cash inflows of $21.1 million in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with the year ended June 30, 
2020.

The $21.1 million decrease of inflows comprised: inflows from upfront fee and milestone payment received in relation to the 
strategic partnership with Grünenthal decreased by $17.5 million in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with the year ended June 
30, 2020; receipts for the research and development tax incentive decreased by $1.5 million in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared 
with the year ended June 30, 2020; inflows from royalty income earned on sales of TEMCELL in Japan decreased by $1.6 million 
during the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with the year ended June 30, 2020; and inflows from interest receipts reduced by $0.5 
million in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared with the year ended June 30, 2020.

Outflows for payments to suppliers and employees and interest and other costs of finance paid increased by $29.2 million from 
$83.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2020 to $112.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2021 primarily due to an increase in 
payments in relation to product manufacturing and operating costs and research and development costs. 

Net cash inflows in investing activities

Net cash outflows for investing activities decreased by $1.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with the year 
ended June 30, 2020 primarily due to a $0.6 million decrease in payments for fixed assets, such as plant and equipment and 
intellectual property and a $1.0 million decrease in payments for contingent consideration in the year ended June 30, 2021 compared 
with the year ended June 30, 2020.

Net cash inflows in financing activities

Net cash inflows for financing activities decreased by $22.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2021, compared with the year 
ended June 30, 2020. In the year ended June 30, 2020, we received a $50.6 million receipt of gross proceeds from a share placement to 
existing and new Australian and global institutional investors completed in October 2019, and proceeds of $89.9 million from share 
placements to existing and new institutional investors in May 2020. In the year ended June 30, 2021, we received $108.6 million of 
proceeds from a private placement completed in March 2021. We received $9.2 million in receipts from employee share option 
exercises during the year ended June 30, 2021, compared to $4.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2020. In the year ended June 30, 
2021, we received receipts of $1.4 million for shares issued through the exercise of incentive rights in connection with the Kentgrove 
Capital equity facility agreement. These receipts were offset by a $2.9 million payment for lease liabilities during the year ended June 
30, 2021, compared to $1.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2020. Additionally, there were $1.8 million and $6.3 million of 
payments for associated capital raising costs in the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Comparison of cash flows for the Year ended June 30, 2020 with the Year ended June 30, 2019

For discussion on comparison of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, refer to Cash Flows within “Item 5.B 
Liquidity and Capital Resources” in our annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended June 30, 2020, filed with the SEC on 
September 3, 2020. 

Operating Capital Requirements

We do not know when, or if, we will generate revenues from our product sales significant enough to generate profits. We do not 
expect to generate significant revenue from product sales unless and until we obtain regulatory approval of and commercialize more of 
our cell-based product candidates. We anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect the 
losses to increase as we continue the development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our cell-based product candidates, and begin 
to commercialize any approved products either directly ourselves or through a collaborator or partner. We are subject to all of the risks 
inherent in the development of new cell-based products, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, 
delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. We anticipate that we will need substantial additional 
funding in connection with our continuing operations.

We expect that our research and development expenses and our management and administration expenses to remain relatively 
consistent over the next 12 months. Subject to us achieving successful regulatory approval we expect an increase in our total expenses 
driven by an increase in our product manufacturing and selling, general and administrative expenses as we move towards 
commercialization. Therefore, we will need additional capital to fund our operations, which we may raise through a combination of 
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equity offerings, debt financings, other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic 
alliances and licensing arrangements.

Additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient 
amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or 
commercialization of one or more of our product candidates. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of additional debt or 
equity securities, it could result in dilution to our existing shareholders, increased fixed payment obligations and the existence of 
securities with rights that may be senior to those of our ordinary shares. If we incur further indebtedness, we could become subject to 
covenants that would restrict our operations and potentially impair our competitiveness, such as limitations on our ability to incur 
additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that 
could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Any of these events could significantly harm our business, financial 
condition and prospects.

Borrowings

Hercules 

In March 2018, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules, for a $75.0 million non-dilutive, four-year credit 
facility. We drew the first tranche of $35.0 million on closing and a further tranche of $15.0 million was drawn in January 2019. The 
loan matures in March 2022. 

In May 2021, we amended the terms of the loan and security agreement to extend the interest-only period to October 1, 2021. In 
August 2021, we amended the terms of the loan and security agreement to extend the interest-only period to January 1, 2022. Principal 
repayments can be further deferred to March 2022, subject to achieving certain milestones. 

Interest on the loan is payable monthly in arrears on the 1st day of the month. At closing date, the interest rate was 9.45% per 
annum. At June 30, 2019, in line with increases in the U.S. prime rate, the interest rate was 10.45%. On August 1, September 19 and 
October 31, in line with the decreases in the U.S. prime rate, the interest rate on the loan decreased to 10.20%, 9.95% and 9.70%, 
respectively, and remains at 9.70% at June 30, 2021 in line with the terms of the loan agreement. As at June 30, 2021, we recognized 
$2.2 million in interest payable within twelve months as a current liability.

In the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized gains of $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in the Income 
Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs. These remeasurements relate to adjustments of the 
carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash flows from our existing credit facility.

NovaQuest 

On June 29, 2018, we drew the first tranche of $30.0 million of the principal amount from the $40.0 million loan and security 
agreement with NovaQuest. There is a four-year interest only period, until July 2022, with the principal repayable in equal quarterly 
instalments over the remaining period of the loan. The loan matures in July 2026. Interest on the loan will accrue at a fixed rate of 
15% per annum.

All interest and principal payments will be deferred until after the first commercial sale of remestemcel-L for the treatment in 
pediatric SR-aGVHD. We can elect to prepay all outstanding amounts owing at any time prior to maturity, subject to a prepayment 
charge, and may decide to do so if net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD are significantly higher than current forecasts. 

If there are no net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD, the loan is only repayable on maturity in 2026. If in any 
annual period 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD exceed the amount of accrued interest owing and, from 
2022, principal and accrued interest owing (“the payment cap”), Mesoblast will pay the payment cap and an additional portion of 
excess sales which may be used for early prepayment of the loan. If in any annual period 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for 
pediatric SR-aGVHD is less than the payment cap, then the payment is limited to 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-
aGVHD. Any unpaid interest will be added to the principal amounts owing and shall accrue further interest. At maturity date, any 
unpaid loan balances are repaid.

Because of this relationship of net sales and repayments, changes in our estimated net sales may trigger an adjustment of the 
carrying amount of the financial liability to reflect the revised estimated cash flows. The carrying amount adjustment is recalculated 
by computing the present value of the revised estimated future cash flows at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate. 
The adjustment is recognized in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs in the period 
the revision is made.

In the year ended June 30, 2021, we recognized a gain of $4.8 million in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing 
arrangements within finance costs in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised 
estimated future cash flows as a net result of changes to the key assumptions in development timelines. In the year ended June 30, 
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2020, we recognized a loss of $0.7 million in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs 
in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash flows.

As at June 30, 2021, we recognized a current liability of $0.3 million which represents the present value of $0.4 million loan 
administration fee which is payable annually in June.

The carrying amount of the loan and security agreement with NovaQuest is subordinated to our floating rate loan with our senior 
creditor, Hercules.

Compliance with loan covenants

Our loan facilities with Hercules and NovaQuest contain a number of covenants that impose operating restrictions on us, which 
may restrict our ability to respond to changes in our business or take specified actions. We have an operating objective to at all times 
maintain unrestricted cash reserves in excess of six months liquidity. The objective aligns with our loan and security agreement with 
Hercules where we are obliged to maintain certain levels of cash in the United States, and a minimum unrestricted cash balance equal 
to the lessor of: four months liquidity (defined as the prior four calendar months net cash outflows in operating activities and investing 
activities, excluding amounts for extraordinary, non-recurring, not regularly scheduled or onetime proceeds and amounts) plus any 
balance of accounts payable not paid after the 120th day following the invoice date for such accounts payable; and the outstanding 
loan balance.

We have complied with the financial and other restrictive covenants of our borrowing facilities during the year ended June 30, 
2021 and during the year ended June 30, 2020.

5.C Research and Development, Patents and Licenses 

For a description of the amount spent during each of the last two fiscal years on company-sponsored research and development 
activities, as well as the components of research and development expenses, see “Item 5.A Operating Results – Results of 
Operations.”

For a description of our research and development process, see “Item 4.B Business Overview.”

5.D Trend Information 

As a biotechnology company which primarily is still in the development stage, we are subject to costs of our clinical trials and 
other work necessary to support applications for regulatory approval of our product candidates. Health regulators have increased their 
focus on product safety. In addition, regulators have also increased their attention on whether or not a new product offers evidence of 
substantial treatment effect. These developments have led to requests for more clinical trial data, for the inclusion of a higher number 
of patients in clinical trials, and for more detailed analyses of the trials. In light of these developments, we expect these aspects of our 
research and development expenses may need to increase as we continue to fund our programs to the market. Notwithstanding this 
upward trend, our research and development expenses may still fluctuate from period to period due to varied rates of patient 
enrollment and the timing of our clinical trials as our existing trials are completed and new trials commence. We cannot predict with 
any degree of accuracy the outcome of our research or commercialization efforts.

5.E Critical Accounting Estimates 

Not applicable.   
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

(Start of the Remuneration Report for Australian Disclosure Requirements)

The Mesoblast board of directors (“the Board”) presents the 2020/2021 Remuneration Report, which has been prepared in 
accordance with the relevant Corporations Act 2001 (“Corporations Act”) and accounting standards requirements.  

The remuneration report sets out remuneration information for our company’s key management personnel (“KMP”) as defined 
in the International Accounting Standards 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and the Australian Corporations Act 2001 for the financial 
year ended June 30, 2021. 

The remuneration report has been audited as required by s308 (3C) of the Corporations Act.

Introductory Comments from Donal O’Dwyer, Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman

The 2021 financial year was an eventful one in terms of Company milestones with significant developments across all of the 
Company’s programs, as well as on the partnering and financing fronts.

We are very aware that the market value of the company is lower now than it was at this time last year and the factors that have 
led to this circumstance. The milestones have not all followed the roadmap as envisaged at this time last year. The FDA’s complete 
response letter was contrary to expectations following a 9:1 positive recommendation from the Oncologic Drugs Advisory Committee 
and recruitment in the COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome trial was stopped following the third interim analysis by the 
Data Safety and Monitoring Board.

While these outcomes were not as planned, the Mesoblast executive team responded quickly to adapt strategies so that 
Mesoblast’s path to commercialization can progress. There was also progress made within the programs for the treatment of chronic 
lower back pain due to degenerative disc disease and chronic heart failure, for which Phase 3 trials completed during the year with 
encouraging results.

The combination of mixed outcomes balanced by levels of program execution that were above expectation are reflected in this 
year’s remuneration outcomes, with an STI outcome of 65% and 60% of maximum for the CEO and CFO respectively, incorporating 
committee exercise of negative discretion. On the LTI front, no vesting milestones were realized for this year for the KMP. Fixed 
remuneration for our KMP has remained static year on year. 

Last year we reported significant changes made to the remuneration framework by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, which remain in place. These changes were positively received by investors, who overwhelmingly voted for the 
remuneration report resolution at the 2020 AGM (96.18%). The changes included:

• Decreasing the amount of annual cash that the CEO could earn through halving the STI opportunity from 100% of fixed 
remuneration to a maximum of 50% of fixed remuneration (the STI represented 14% of total maximum remuneration 
opportunity in FY21).

• Decreasing the weighting of the CEO’s fixed remuneration and increasing the weight of pay contingent on performance.
• Making long term incentives a major part of the CEO’s remuneration package. These consist of an option grant subject to 

milestone performance conditions which must be achieved over 3 years. If achieved earlier, vesting is restricted so that it is 
only by the third year that all options will have vested.

• Requiring KMP and executive options to be subject to both milestone achievement and continued service before vesting.
• Describing the KMP LTI rationale and performance conditions with greater detail.

Not only have these changes resulted in lower cash costs, preserving our cash reserves for investing in research and 
commercialization, but the change in remuneration mix towards long-term performance tested options better ensures that executive 
outcomes are aligned to those of shareholders. The executives only receive the value from any milestone-based options that vest if 
shareholders also realize increases in share price over the same period. 

During the last year, in order to ensure our remuneration settings remained competitive, we commissioned an international 
remuneration consultancy firm to help us rigorously and independently benchmark our executives on a role-by-role basis against an 
industry peer group of US listed organizations (14 companies selected with consideration to organization size, region, industry and 
clinical stage) and a peer group of listed ASX companies.  Overall, the report supported the senior executive remuneration levels 
across Mesoblast, with the settings being competitive on an overall remuneration basis across both the industry peer group and the 
ASX peer group, although the LTI opportunities were at the lower end of the range for the industry peer group. 

With respect to the CEO’s remuneration, the findings were similar to the other senior executives as it relates to fixed 
remuneration and STI. However, the relativity of the CEO’s LTI opportunity to the industry group benchmark was not aligned to that 
for the rest of the senior executive team, with the CEO’s LTI and total remuneration opportunity being significantly below market. 
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While we determined it prudent to remain below market, we increased the CEO’s maximum LTI opportunity at the end of FY20 from 
40% to 58% of total remuneration to partially correct the imbalance. To conserve cash, no adjustments were made to fixed 
remuneration or STI cash opportunity from their reduction in FY20 to permit a rebalance to the higher LTI opportunity. Our decision 
was also consistent with the stated preference of our investors for long term at risk pay that is aligned to the increase in shareholder 
wealth. This change was put to shareholders at the FY20 AGM for the CEO’s FY21 LTI grant, which was passed with 94.96% 
support. 

It is important to note when considering this change that:

• The LTI options will have no value unless share price increases.
• Milestone-based LTI awards in life science sectors typically have a higher risk profile than those in the broader market, and 

may not materialize to levels anticipated at grant.

As in FY20, the COVID-19 pandemic did not this year materially lead to a reduction in Mesoblast’s circumstances, nor require 
Mesoblast to utilize government support. Mesoblast has actively implemented a COVID-19 program focused on employee safety and 
has instituted various changes to working requirements to minimize threats to our employees arising from the pandemic. While there 
has been some impact on our work schedule and efficiency the Board has deemed these to be minimal, such that there need be no 
special consideration of incentive targets set for KMP executives. 

In summary, we believe FY21 has shown that the Mesoblast framework is fit for purpose by appropriately remunerating 
executives in the short term for consistent, timely, safe and efficient achievement of research objectives as well as strategic agility to 
remain on the path to commercialization, and ensuring zero executive LTI value accrues unless shareholder value has increased.  We 
trust you will agree and support our remuneration framework and as always welcome your further feedback.

Donal O’Dwyer
Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman
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6.A Directors and Senior Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Key management personnel (KMP), defined as individuals who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the company, directly or indirectly, and including all directors, are listed in Table 1.

Table 1 – Mesoblast KMP during FY2021

Name Position Country Portion of year served as 
KMP

Non-executive directors

Joseph Swedish Independent Chairman, Board of Directors  
Member, Audit and Risk Committee

US Full Year

William Burns Independent Vice Chair, Board of 
Directors
Member, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

Switzerland Full Year 

Donal O’Dwyer Independent Non-executive Director
Chair, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee
Member, Audit and Risk Committee

Australia Full Year

Michael Spooner Independent Non-executive Director
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee
Member, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

Australia Full Year

Eric Rose Independent Non-executive Director US Full Year

Shawn Cline Tomasello Independent Non-executive Director
Member, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

US Full Year

Philip Facchina Independent Non-executive Director US Since March 29, 2021

Executive director

Silviu Itescu Chief Executive Officer 
Executive Director

Australia Full Year

Other executive KMP

Josh Muntner Chief Financial Officer US Full Year
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Details of Directors and Senior Management

Board of Directors

Joseph Swedish, MHA

Appointed as Chairman of the Board of Directors on April 1, 2019. 

Experience and expertise

Joseph. R. Swedish has more than two decades of healthcare leadership experience as the CEO for major United States 
healthcare enterprises. Most recently, he has served as Executive Chairman, President and CEO of Anthem Inc., America’s leading 
health benefits provider. Prior to joining Anthem, Mr. Swedish was CEO for several major integrated healthcare delivery systems, 
including Trinity Health and Colorado’s Centura Health. Currently, he sits on the board of directors of IBM Corporation, CDW 
Corporation, and Centrexion Therapeutics. Mr. Swedish is a member and previously Chairman of Duke University’s Fuqua School of 
Business Board of Visitors. Previously, he was Chairman of the Catholic Health Association and the America’s Health Insurance 
Plans. Mr. Swedish received a bachelor’s degree from the University of North Carolina and his master’s degree in health 
administration from Duke University.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
Non-Executive Director, IBM Corporation (since 2017)
Non-Executive Director, CDW Corporation (since 2015)

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Executive Chairman, Anthem, Inc. (2013 - 2018)

William Burns, BA

Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors

Experience and expertise

Mr. Burns has served on our board of directors since 2014 and was appointed Vice Chairman in 2016. He spent his entire 
management career at the Beecham Group and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. He was Chief Executive Officer of Roche Pharmaceuticals 
from 2001 to 2009, when he joined the board of directors of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. until he retired in 2014. He is the Chair of 
Molecular Partners, and has been a Non-Executive Director of Shire PLC, Chugai Pharmaceutical Co., Genentech, Crucell, and 
Chairman of Biotie Therapies Corp. from 2014 until its sale to Acorda Therapeutics Inc. in 2016. Mr Burns is also a member of the 
Oncology Advisory Board of the Universities of Cologne/Bonn in Germany. In 2014, he was appointed a trustee of the Institute of 
Cancer Research, London, and from March 2016 until April 2020 a Governor of The Wellcome Trust in London, UK. His extensive 
experience in the pharmaceutical industry, specifically as a member of the board of directors of other pharmaceutical companies, 
provides pharmaceutical, healthcare, industry, leadership and management expertise.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
Chair of Molecular Partners (since 2018)

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Non-executive Director, Shire (UK) (2010 – 2018)

Philip Facchina

Appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on March 29, 2021.

Experience and expertise

 Mr. Facchina brings more than 35 years of experience in corporate strategy, capital markets, finance, and business development 
across several industries, including healthcare. Since 2018, Mr. Facchina has been Chief Strategy Officer at SurgCenter Development, 
the largest privately held operator of ambulatory surgery centers in the US, overseeing the company’s strategic relationships, including 
its relationships with the broad US ASC market, certain hospital systems and other market constituents. Prior to SurgCenter, Mr. 
Facchina spent two decades in the public and private capital markets, where he managed liquid and illiquid portfolios, and managed 
public and private capital transactions of equity and debt, led M&A and special advisory processes including take-privates. From 2008 
to 2017, Mr. Facchina served as a Partner, Co-Portfolio Manager and the Chief Operating Officer of Ramsey Asset Management, an 
institutional investment management firm, and from 1998 to 2008 Mr. Facchina led the technology, media and communications and 
healthcare investment banking groups of FBR Capital Markets. Mr. Facchina currently serves as an independent director for ViON 
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Corporation and Millennium Global Treasury Services, and is Advisor to the CEO of Johanna Foods Inc, where he heads the Audit 
Committee and he also serves as an advisor to New Markets Venture Partners.  Previously, among other directorships and committee 
posts, Mr. Facchina served on the Board of Web.com, where he led Corporate Governance.  Mr. Facchina is a qualified financial 
expert for SEC and NASDAQ purposes.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
None

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Web.com (2010-2018)

Donal O’Dwyer, BE, MBA

Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors

Experience and expertise

Mr. O’Dwyer has served on our board of directors since 2004. He has over 25 years of experience as a senior executive in the 
global cardiovascular and medical devices industries. From 1996 to 2003, Mr. O’Dwyer worked for Cordis Cardiology, the cardiology 
division of Johnson & Johnson’s Cordis Corporation, initially as its president (Europe) and from 2000 as its worldwide president. 
Prior to joining Cordis, Mr. O’Dwyer worked with Baxter Healthcare, rising from plant manager in Ireland to president of the 
Cardiovascular Group, Europe, now Edwards Lifesciences. Mr. O’Dwyer is a qualified civil engineer with an MBA. He is on the 
board of directors of Fisher & Paykel Healthcare Ltd and NIB Holdings Ltd. He also served on the board of Cochlear Ltd for 15 years 
and retired from their board in October 2020.  With his experience as a senior executive and a director, as well as his extensive 
experience in the cardiovascular and medical devices industries, Mr. O’Dwyer provides business, science, engineering and 
management expertise.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
Non-executive Director, Fisher & Paykel Healthcare (since 2013)
Non-executive Director, NIB Holdings Ltd (since 2016)

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Non-executive Director, CardieX Ltd (formerly called Atcor Medical Holdings Ltd) (2004 – 2019)
Non-executive Director, Cochlear Ltd (2005 - 2020)

Eric Rose, MD

Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors

Experience and expertise

Dr. Rose has served on our board of directors since 2013. From 2007 through 2021, Dr Rose was with SIGA Technologies 
initially as CEO from 2007 to 2017 and then Chairman. From 2008 through 2012, Dr. Rose served as the Edmond A. Guggenheim 
Professor and Chairman of the Department of Health Evidence and Policy at the Mount Sinai School of Medicine. From 1994 through 
2007, Dr. Rose served as Chairman of the Department of Surgery and Surgeon-in-Chief of the Columbia Presbyterian Center of New 
York Presbyterian Hospital. From 1982 through 1992, he led the Columbia Presbyterian heart transplantation program in the United 
States. Dr. Rose currently sits on the board of directors of ABIOMED. His experience as a surgeon, researcher and businessman 
provides medical, pharmaceutical, scientific and industry expertise.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
Non-executive Director, ABIOMED, Inc. (2007 – 2012, 2014 – present)

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Chairman, SIGA Technologies, Inc. (2017 - 2021)
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Michael Spooner, BCom, ACA, MAICD

Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors

Experience and expertise

Mr. Spooner has served on the Board of Directors since 2004. During this period he has filled various roles including as 
Chairman from the date of the ASX public listing in 2004 until 2007. Over the past several years Mr. Spooner has served on the board 
of directors in various capacities at several Australian and international biotechnology companies, including BiVacor Pty Ltd (2009-
2013), Advanced Surgical Design & Manufacture Limited (2010-2011), Peplin, Inc. (2004-2009), Hawaii Biotech, Inc. (2010-2012), 
Hunter Immunology Limited (2007-2008), and Ventracor Limited (2001-2003). He has been the Chairman of Simavita Ltd since May 
2016 and Chairman of MicrofluidX since February 2018. Prior to returning to Australia in 2001, Mr. Spooner spent much of his career 
internationally where he served in various roles including as a partner to PA Consulting Group, a UK-based management consultancy, 
and a Principal Partner and Director of Consulting Services with PricewaterhouseCoopers (Coopers & Lybrand) in Hong Kong. In 
addition Mr Spooner has owned and operated several international companies providing services and has consulted to a number of 
U.S. and Asian public companies. Mr. Spooner provides executive management, commercial, business strategy and accounting 
expertise as well as established relationships with investment firms and business communities worldwide.

Other current directorships of listed public companies

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Chairman, Simavita Ltd (2016 - 2021)

Shawn Cline Tomasello, BS, MBA

Appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on July 11, 2018.

Experience and expertise

With more than 30 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries, Shawn Cline Tomasello has substantial 
commercial and transactional experience. Since 2015, Ms. Tomasello had been Chief Commercial Officer at leading immuno-
oncology cell therapy company Kite Pharma, where she played a pivotal role in the company’s acquisition in 2017 by Gilead Sciences 
for $11.9 billion. Prior to this she served as Chief Commercial Officer at Pharmacyclics, Inc., which was acquired in 2015 by AbbVie, 
Inc. for $21 billion. Ms. Tomasello previously was President of the Americas, Hematology and Oncology at Celgene Corporation 
where she managed over $4 billion in product revenues, and was instrumental in various global expansion and acquisition strategies. 
She has also held key positions at Genentech, Pfizer Laboratories, Miles Pharmaceuticals and Procter & Gamble. Ms. Tomasello 
currently serves on the Board of Directors of Gamida Cell, Ltd. and UroGen Pharma, Ltd, TCR2 Therapeutics, and 4D Molecular 
Therapeutics. She previously served on the board of Principia Biopharma; acquired by Sanofi, Abeona Therapeutics (resigned), 
Clementia Pharmaceuticals, Inc. which was acquired by Ipsen, SA, and Diplomat Specialty which was acquired by United Healthcare. 
She received a MBA from Murray State University and a B.S. in Marketing from the University of Cincinnati. Her extensive 
experience in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries, particularly in the commercial and transactional fields, provides industry, 
leadership and management expertise.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
Director, Gamida Cell, Ltd. (since 2019)
Director, UroGen Pharma, Ltd. (since 2019)
Director, TCR² Therapeutics Inc. (since 2021)
Director, 4D Molecular Therapeutics (since 2020)

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
Director, Clementia Pharmaceuticals, Inc. which was acquired by Ipsen, SA. (2018 – 2019)
Non-Executive Director, Diplomat Pharmacy, Inc. (2015 – 2020)
Director, Abeona Therapeutics, Inc. (2020)
Director, Principia Biopharma, Inc. which was acquired by Sanofi (2019-2020)
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Senior Management

Silviu Itescu, MBBS (Hons), FRACP, FACP, FACRA

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Member of the Board of Directors

Experience and expertise

Dr. Itescu is our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). He has served our board of directors since our founding in 2004, was 
Executive Director from 2007 to 2011, and became CEO and Managing Director in 2011. Prior to founding Mesoblast in 2004, 
Dr. Itescu established an international reputation as a physician scientist in the fields of stem cell biology, autoimmune diseases, organ 
transplantation, and heart failure. He has been a faculty member of Columbia University in New York, and of Melbourne and Monash 
universities in Australia. In 2011, Dr. Itescu was named BioSpectrum Asia Person of the Year. In 2013, he received the inaugural Key 
Innovator Award from the Vatican’s Pontifical Council for Culture for his leadership in translational science and clinical medicine in 
relation to adult stem cell therapy. Dr. Itescu has consulted for various international pharmaceutical companies, has been an adviser to 
biotechnology and health care investor groups, and has served on the board of directors of several publicly listed life sciences 
companies.

Other current directorships of listed public companies
None

Former directorships of listed public companies within the last 3 years
None

Josh Muntner, BFA, MBA

Resigned effective August 31, 2021 

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Muntner has accrued 20 years’ experience in healthcare investment banking and corporate finance, and has been involved in 
a wide range of healthcare-related transactions with approximately $11.0 billion in value. Most recently, he led corporate development 
and financial transactions at Nasdaq-listed biotechnology company, ContraFect Corporation. Previously, Mr. Muntner served as 
Managing Director and Co-Head of Healthcare Investment Banking at Janney Montgomery Scott, and spent nine years at 
Oppenheimer & Co. and its U.S. predecessor, CIBC World Markets. He also served as an investment banker at Prudential Securities. 
Mr. Muntner has a BFA from Carnegie Mellon and a MBA from the Anderson School at UCLA.

Andrew Chaponnel, BCom, CAANZ

Chief Financial Officer (interim) – appointed effective August 31, 2021

Mr. Chaponnel has around 25 years of experience in finance roles including 9 years with Mesoblast, initially as the Group 
Financial Controller (6 years) and for the past 3 years as Head of Finance.  As part of Mesoblast Group finance leadership he has been 
integral to the implementation and maintenance of our borrowing arrangements, various strategic partnerships, equity placements, the 
NASDAQ IPO and leads both ASX and NASDAQ financial reporting.  Previously Mr. Chaponnel has held several roles including 
management roles in chartered accountancy, logistics, retail and a CFO role within construction before moving into Healthcare.  He is 
a member of the Chartered Accountants of Australia & New Zealand.

Fred Grossman D.O. FAPA

Chief Medical Officer 

Dr. Grossman joined Mesoblast in August 2019 and leads the Medical Affairs, Drug Safety Clinical Operations and Biostatistics 
teams. Dr Grossmann is a Board-Certified psychiatrist and Fellow of the American Psychiatric Association with over 30 years of 
experience in research, academia, and practice. He has held executive positions leading and building clinical development, medical 
affairs, and pharmacovigilance in large and small pharmaceutical companies including Eli Lilly, Johnson & Johnson, Bristol Myers 
Squibb, Sunovion, Glenmark, and NeuroRx. Dr. Grossman has developed and supported the launch of numerous blockbuster 
medications addressing significant unmet medical needs across multiple therapeutic areas including CNS, immunology, immuno-
oncolology, respiratory, cardiovascular/metabolics, and virology. He has close relationships with thought leaders worldwide and has 
negotiated directly with the FDA and Global Health Authorities for approval of many drugs across therapeutic areas. He has numerous 
publications and presentations and has held several academic appointments.
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Peter Howard, BSc, LLB (Hons)

General Counsel

Mr. Howard has served as our General Counsel and Corporate Executive since July 2011. As external counsel and partner at 
Australian law firm, Middletons (now, K&L Gates), Mr. Howard has been integrally involved with Mesoblast since its inception and 
public listing on the ASX in 2004. More generally, Mr. Howard has extensive experience with many biopharmaceutical firms and 
major research institutions, covering public listings, private financings, strategic, licensing, intellectual property and mergers and 
acquisition activities. He has done so in several roles, including as a partner at a major law firm, entrepreneur, director and senior 
executive.

John McMannis, PhD

Head of Manufacturing– Resigned during the reporting year but remains a consultant

Dr. McMannis served as our Head of Manufacturing since 2011. He has 27 years of experience in clinical cellular therapy trials 
in both academic and commercial environments. Before joining Mesoblast, Dr. McMannis served at the University of Texas MD 
Anderson Cancer Center as a Professor of Medicine from 1999 to 2011, and as the Director of the Cell Therapy Laboratory from 1999 
to 2011, and as the Technical Director of the Cord Blood Bank from 2008 to 2011. Before his tenure at the University of Texas MD 
Anderson Cancer Center, Dr. McMannis was a Senior Director Technical Affairs at the Immunotherapy Division of Baxter and 
Therapy Scientist at COBE BCT (now Terumo BCT). Dr. McMannis has served on the scientific advisory boards at BioSafe SA, 
Biolife Solutions, Inc., and General Electric and on the board of directors for the American Association of Blood Banks, or AABB, 
and the National Marrow Donor Program, or NMDP, which operates the “Be the Match” donor program.

Justin Horst, BS

Head of Manufacturing 

Justin Horst has 18 years of experience in clinical cell therapy manufacturing and industry development. During the past eight 
years, he has been Mesoblast’s Deputy Head of Manufacturing, with accountability for chemistry, manufacturing and control of the 
manufacturing processes. Before joining Mesoblast, Mr. Horst was at Lonza Walkersville Inc. for 10 years, holding numerous senior 
level positions within the manufacturing, project management, and business development groups.  At Lonza, he was instrumental in 
the establishment of the contract manufacturing business, and managed multiple manufacturing teams supporting numerous custom 
supply processes.  Mr. Horst obtained his B.S. in Biology from Towson University in Maryland.

Dagmar Rosa-Bjorkeson, MS, MBA

Chief Operating Officer

Dagmar Rosa-Bjorkeson has more than 25 years of global experience in the pharmaceutical industry, including executive 
leadership in corporate and product strategy, market development and operational execution. She has led multiple successful product 
launches, including Gilenya® for multiple sclerosis and Elidel® for atopic eczema. During her 17 years at Novartis, Ms. Rosa-
Bjorkeson was Vice President and Head of its Multiple Sclerosis Business Unit; Vice President, Business Development and Licensing 
in the United States; and Country Head and President for Novartis Sweden. More recently, she served as Executive Vice President and 
President, Biosimilars, at Baxalta, now a wholly owned subsidiary of Takeda Pharmaceutical Company. Ms. Rosa-Bjorkeson was also 
Executive Vice President and Chief Strategy and Development Officer at Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals. She holds an MBA in 
Marketing, an MS in Chemistry and a BS, Chemistry from the University of Texas.

Michael Schuster, MBA

Pharma Partnering

Mr. Schuster, who joined Mesoblast in 2004, leads the Group's partnering discussions. Previously he was the head of the 
Group's investor relations outreach program and was part of the founding executive team at both Mesoblast Limited and Angioblast 
Systems, Inc. Mr. Schuster was Executive Vice President of Global Therapeutic Programs from 2010 to 2013 and was the Director of 
Business Development and Vice President of Operations from 2004 to 2010. He holds an undergraduate degree in science from Tufts 
University, a Master’s degree in Immunology & Microbiology from New York Medical College, and an MBA from Fordham 
University in New York.
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Paul Simmons, PhD

Head of Research and New Product Development

Dr. Simmons has served as our Head of Research and New Product Development since 2011. He has nearly 30 years of 
experience in stem cell research, especially research in basic hematopoiesis and in precursor cells for the stromal system of the bone 
marrow, and served as President of the International Society of Stem Cell Research, or ISSCR, from 2006 to 2007. Prior to joining 
Mesoblast, Dr. Simmons held the C. Harold and Lorine G. Wallace Distinguished University Chair at the University of Texas Health 
from 2008 to 2011 and served as the inaugural Professor and Director of the Centre for Stem Cell Research at the Brown Foundation 
Institute of Molecular Medicine from 2006 to 2011. Dr. Simmons is, or has served as, an associate editor, a member of the editorial 
board, or a reviewer on multiple scientific and medical journals including Experimental Hematology, Cytotherapy and Stem Cell 
Research, Cell Stem Cell, Stem Reports, Science and Nature.

Geraldine Storton, BSc, MMS, MBA

Head of Regulatory Affairs and Quality Management

Ms. Storton is a seasoned pharmaceutical executive with more than 30 years’ experience across the full value chain of 
Pharmaceutical and Medical Device Research and Development, production and commercialization worldwide. She has an extensive 
background in regulatory affairs and quality, most recently as a consultant to cell therapy companies. Prior to this, Ms. Storton held 
executive roles at Hospira, and its predecessor companies in both regulatory affairs and quality, with a focus on major program 
management. As Vice President, Program Management, Quality, at Hospira headquarters in Chicago, she led a company-wide quality 
remediation program to improve compliance in manufacturing across 15 facilities worldwide. As Regional Director, Commercial 
Quality ANZ, Asia and Japan, Ms. Storton was responsible for quality oversight and management of all products sold in Asia Pacific 
countries. Her responsibilities included regulatory compliance, batch release, field actions, complaints management, change control, 
due diligence and new product launch. As director of global regulatory operations, Ms. Storton managed development and registration 
of new products and on-market management of the existing product portfolio for all Hospira’s products developed or manufactured 
within Asia Pacific for global distribution. She joined Mesoblast in December 2015.

There are no family relationships among any of our directors and senior management. The business address of each of our 
directors and senior management is Mesoblast Limited, Level 38, 55 Collins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000, Australia. 

KMP Interests

The relevant interest of each KMP, as defined by section 608 of the Corporations Act, in the share capital of Mesoblast, as 
notified by the directors to the ASX in accordance with section 205G(1) of the Corporations Act, at the date of this report is as 
follows:

Table 2 – KMP Interests

Director  
Mesoblast Limited 

ordinary shares  

Options over 
Mesoblast Limited 

ordinary shares 
Silviu Itescu   68,958,928   3,085,334 
Josh Muntner   —   1,000,000 
William Burns   63,000   220,000 
Donal O'Dwyer   1,234,392   100,000 
Eric Rose   —   220,000 
Michael Spooner   1,069,000   100,000 
Joseph Swedish   —   500,000 
Shawn Cline Tomasello   —   200,000 
Philip Facchina(1)   273,224   —  

(1) The board approved a grant of 200,000 options for Philip Facchina on April 15, 2021, this grant is subject to shareholder 
approval at the upcoming AGM. Mr Facchina also has a relevant interest in 68,306 warrants over ordinary shares.
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Meeting of Directors

The number of meetings our board of directors (including committee meetings of directors) held during the year ended June 30, 
2021 and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Table 3 – Meeting of Directors

  Board of Directors  Audit and Risk Committee   
Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee  
Director  A*  B*  A   B   A   B  
Joseph Swedish  25  24  4   3    —    —  
William Burns  25  21   —    —   6   6  
Silviu Itescu  25  25   —    —    —    —  
Donal O'Dwyer  25  24  4   4   6   6  
Eric Rose  25  23   —    —    —    —  
Shawn Tomasello  25  24   —    —    6    5  
Michael Spooner  25  23  4   4   6   6  
Philip Facchina  6  6   —    —    —    —  

A = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee.

B = Number of meetings attended by board/committee members

— = Not a member of the relevant committee

* = This includes both meetings scheduled in the board calendar as well as teleconference meetings organized on an ad-hoc basis. 
Each director attended every scheduled meeting in the board calendar.

6.B Compensation

KMP Remuneration Governance

The Board is responsible for Mesoblast’s remuneration strategy and approach. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
advises the Board on remuneration and incentive policies and practices generally, and makes specific recommendations on 
remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive Directors, other senior executives and non-executive Directors.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is wholly comprised of independent members: Donal O’Dwyer (Chair), William 
Burns, Michael Spooner and Shawn Tomasello. The board is satisfied that Donal O’Dwyer and Michael Spooner are independent 
despite their long-standing tenure on the board and Mr. Spooner’s brief role as an executive Chairman following the company’s 
incorporation. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on:

• Board appointments

• Non-executive director fees

• Executive remuneration framework

• Remuneration for executive directors, namely the CEO, and other key executives

• Short-term and long-term incentive awards

• Share ownership plans

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s objective is to ensure remuneration policies are fair and competitive and have 
regard for industry benchmarks whilst being aligned with the objectives of our company. 

The Committee receives proposals from the executive team, which it critically reviews. When appropriate the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee will seek advice or recommendations from independent expert consultants, such as the benchmarking study 
received during the year and referenced in the introductory comments to this report. Advice provided by consultants during the year 
did not constitute a ‘remuneration recommendation’ as a defined in section 9B of the Corporations Act and was received free from any 
undue influence by Key Management Personnel to whom the advice related. 
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Executive Remuneration Strategy

The Company’s remuneration strategy is designed to ensure Mesoblast can: 

• Attract and retain experienced leaders and emerging experts in an innovative field and on a global basis

• Reward performance that will lead in the long term to improved patient outcomes and increased shareholder wealth.

Our team is small. Mesoblast has only 83 employees, 58% of whom are in the US, with the remainder in Australia, Singapore 
and Switzerland. Retaining these employees, who often are at the top of their respective fields, is imperative in ensuring Mesoblast 
can continue in a consistent manner to work towards what are difficult, complex and long-term goals. 

Biopharmaceutical product development is a highly specialized and speculative undertaking and it involves a substantial degree 
of risk. To achieve and maintain long term profitability, companies must successfully develop product candidates, obtain regulatory 
approval, and manufacture, market and sell those products for which regulatory approval is obtained. If this occurs, revenues depend 
on the size of markets in which product candidates receive approval, the ability to achieve and maintain sufficient market acceptance, 
pricing, reimbursement from third-party payors, and adequate market share for our product candidates in those markets. Not all 
companies succeed in these activities, and not all companies generate revenue from product sales that is significant enough to achieve 
profitability. 

To have a chance of success, it is imperative that executives

a) possess the specialized skills to understand the complex products being developed and the various regulatory requirements 
imposed across the globe 

b) apply high degrees of discipline to ensure research and trials are undertaken safely and effectively, to a rigorous standard 
and schedule, within tight budget constraints 

c) seek to deliver earlier, with lower costs, key, well-defined milestones critical to progressing Mesoblast technology

d) stay focused on the end goal of commercialization. 

While it may be many years from initial research until milestones lead to profitable outcomes, this does not reduce the 
importance of the milestones themselves. Without the interim milestone steps on the way to therapy commercialization, the extensive 
safety and efficacy data required would not be sufficient and approval by global regulatory authorities would not be achievable. Time 
and costs are an important component part in this process of research, testing and milestone achievement, as both have compounding 
effects on shareholder value.

To address the above, Mesoblast’s remuneration framework comprises:

- competitive fixed remuneration

- annual incentives payments contingent on intensive research, approvals and trials being undertaken on time and budget 

- longer term milestone-based incentive payments

- payment delivered, in part, as options, which conserves cash, aligns with shareholder interests, and focuses executives on 
strategy, risk management, and execution that optimizes shareholder value. 

Mesoblast generally sets cash-based STIs at a lower quantum than option-based LTIs to conserve cash flow, focus executives on 
value creation, and align executives with shareholders.

The current average tenure of our executive team of 7 years suggests that the framework works well to attract and retain 
appropriate executive leadership.
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Executive Remuneration Framework

Further details on the Mesoblast Executive Remuneration Framework is provided in Table 4 – Executive Remuneration 
Framework.

Table 4 – Executive Remuneration Framework

Performance-based Remuneration
Fixed Pay Short-term Incentives Long-term Incentives

Strategic Rationale Attract and retain key personnel on 
a global basis via competitive 
remuneration.

Comply with regional statutory and 
customary benefits (e.g., 
superannuation in Australia; 
medical insurance in the US.) 

Focuses attention on key KPIs (in 
areas such as clinical, financial 
and partnering strategy, 
manufacturing, commercial, or 
organizational structure and 
development) under cost and time 
constraints that will lead to long-
term improvement in patient 
outcomes and shareholder 
wealth.  

Serves multi-pronged purpose:
-  Aligns remuneration outcomes 

with shareholder wealth 
creation.

-  Provides a framework for 
wealth creation by prioritizing 
key objectives that are critical 
for long-term profitability. 

-  Rewards speed of 
achievement, that can have 
long term compounding 
effects

-  Retains employees via 
deferral 

-  Provides value only if 
milestones accumulate for 
increases in share price, 
aligning with the shareholder 
experience. 

-  Conserves cash. 
-  Enables risk management via 

malus. 

Process Assessed annually on market 
relativities in relevant markets 
based on position accountabilities.  
The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee makes specific 
recommendations to the board on 
remuneration packages for senior 
executives for approval.

Paid annually for performance 
against annual corporate and 
individual KPIs. The Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee sets 
the CEO’s KPIs. These are used to 
measure the company 
performance, which determines 
the pool available for other 
employees. Allocations from that 
pool for senior management are 
determined with reference to 
individual KPIs which have been 
set by the CEO. Resulting 
outcomes are approved by the 
Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee 
assesses vesting for the LTI 
milestones. 
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Eligibility All employees All employees hired on or before 
March 31, 2021 are eligible for 
consideration. Employees hired 
during the year are recognized on 
a pro-rata basis.

All eligible participants who are 
in positions to influence 
achievement of our long- term 
outcomes and, where required, 
for attraction and retention.

Quantum of opportunity Set according to each position’s 
accountabilities, the incumbent’s 
experience and qualifications, and 
regional market relativities.

Set as a percentage of fixed pay. 
Quantum generally lower than LTI 
to conserve cash.

Current CEO maximum STI: 50% 
of Fixed Remuneration.

Current CFO maximum STI: 50% 
of Fixed Remuneration.

Set using a percentage of fixed 
pay as a guideline.

Current CEO maximum LTI: 
approximately 200% of fixed 
remuneration.

As disclosed in the FY20 AGM, 
the CEO grant was increased to 
bridge some of the gap with 
industry LTI practice while also 
decreasing the weighting of the 
CEO fixed remuneration and 
STI. The grant received 94.96% 
approval. 

Current CFO maximum LTI: 
100% of fixed remuneration

The actual grant value for the 
CEO and CFO LTI may vary 
year on year from this 
proportion based on various 
factors being taken account 
including:
-  shareholder dilution
-  internal relativities
-  share price volatility

While the value may fluctuate 
on a year-to-year basis, the 
guideline should stand on a long 
term basis. 

Delivered as Cash Cash Options over ordinary shares in 
Mesoblast Limited with a 7-year 
expiry date. Option exercise 
price will be based on the 5-day 
VWAP to grant date.

Performance and service 
period

N/A 1 year Three years with provision for 
earlier vesting limited to one 
third per year to (a) encourage 
speed of achievement, and (b) 
defer material amounts for better 
governance and (c) encourage 
executive focus on 
achievements that have a longer 
term impact on shareholder 
value.
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Responses to frequent questions on the Mesoblast framework

The following table presents responses to common queries on the Mesoblast remuneration framework. 

Table 5 – Executive Remuneration Framework 

Why do you use milestone performance 
measures for the STI and LTI?

Traditional financial metrics are not meaningful, nor can they be effectively used to 
accurately reflect the performance of our company. What creates lasting shareholder 
value are successful outcomes from research and development, entry into new 
collaborations and achievement of other planned and well considered corporate 
objectives. Success will only result in significant reward under the LTI if the market 
values our achievements. If it does, our share price increases. The LTI options become 
valuable. If not, the options have no intrinsic value. This combination of milestones and 
payment in options work in tandem for a sober, fair payment for performance aligned 
with shareholder returns. This is a standard biotechnology company practice.

Why does some of the long term incentive 
award vest earlier than a three year period?

Within biotechnology, basing long term incentives on achievement of performance 
milestones is a tried and true measure of aligning pay with performance. The other 
factor that is critical is time. While we allow three years for milestones, earlier is better, 
because we will have achieved it using less cash expense than if achieved at the end of 
3 years. Therefore, we have configured the plan to allow for early vesting for early 
achievement, but only to a point. We still insist that even if all milestones are achieved 
early, some options remain unvested for 3 years, to ensure that, if given a choice with a 
limited budget, employees focus on those milestones most likely to deliver the most 
value over the longer term, as well as encouraging employee retention. We believe that 
this framework is innovative, and a great fit for the nature of our business. We 
acknowledge it does not look and feel like a typical ASX-listed company LTI, and 
therefore may not meet the standard guidelines applied by many, but we are not typical. 
We are open to considering alternatively designed incentives that address the value 
drivers of milestone achievement, time to achieve them, prioritization of milestones 
with most value potential given limited resourcing, and impact on longer term share 
price. But so far we have not found any quite as effective.

What is Mesoblast’s position on diversity? The Group values diversity and recognizes the benefits it can bring to the organization’s 
ability to achieve its goals. Diversity can lead to a competitive advantage through 
broadening the talent pool for recruitment of high quality employees, by encouraging 
innovation and improving a corporation’s professionalism and reputation. Accordingly, 
the Group is committed to promoting diversity within the organization and has adopted 
a formal policy outlining the Group’s diversity objectives.

With respect to gender diversity, as at 30 June 2021, 54% of the Company’s employee 
base were female and 30% of the Company’s senior executives were female.  The 
Board is conscious of the gender imbalance at board level (with only one of the seven 
non-executive directors being female) and has an objective to increase this number as 
vacancies arise and circumstances permit.

Why is there no STI deferral? STI is not a heavily weighted part of the remuneration framework across the Company.

There is sufficient remuneration deferred already, in the form of unvested options, that 
would be at risk in the event of poor conduct, mismanagement or reputational damage. 

Why is there no consideration of ENS 
(Environment and Sustainability) issues in 
the STI or LTI vesting considerations?

Mesoblast’s mission to bring to market innovative medicines comprised of naturally-
occurring cellular materials to treat serious and life-threatening illnesses is 
fundamentally consistent with ENS principles, although there are relevant supply chain 
and carbon footprint considerations. At this stage, Mesoblast’s physical footprint is 
limited to office and laboratory space for its employee base of less than 100, so while 
management is actively engaged in reducing the Company’s carbon footprint, its ability 
to materially improve its ENS impact is currently limited. We will continue to consider 
having ENS-related remuneration milestones in the future, in particular if and when 
Mesoblast has its own manufacturing facilities and approved products.   
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Mesoblast performance during FY2021

Table 6 provides share price performance data and selected financial results.

Table 6 – Company share price performance and selected financial results over the last five years

  Currency  2021   2020   2019   2018   2017  
Share price (ASX:MSB)                       
  – closing at June 30  A$   1.98   3.25   1.48   1.48   2.08  
  – high for the year  A$   5.50   4.45   2.34   2.36   3.44  
  – low for the year  A$  1.72   1.02   1.04   1.19   1.03  
Market capitalization at June 30 (millions)  A$   1,285    1,898   738   714   891  
  – increase/(decrease) – (millions)  A$  (613)    1,160   24   (177)   479  
  – increase/(decrease) – as %    (32%)   157%   3%   (20%)   116%  
Revenue (millions)  US$   7.5    32.2    16.7    17.3    2.4  
 - increase/(decrease) - as %    (77%)   92%   (4%)   619%   (94%)  
Loss before income tax (millions)  US$   99.6    87.4    98.8    66.0    90.2  
Net Assets (millions)  US$   581.4    549.3    481.1    546.0    516.8  

FY2021 has been an extremely busy year for Mesoblast. The team has reached important corporate and clinical outcomes across 
Mesoblast’s major programs including:

- Successful completion of US$110 million private placement, with cash balance at June 30, 2021, of US$136.9 million. 
Private placement was led by US investor group SurgCenter Development (SurgCenter), one of the largest private operators 
of ambulatory surgical centers (ASC) in the US specializing in spine, orthopaedic and total joint procedures.

- Appointment of Philip J. Facchina, Chief Strategy Officer of SurgCenter, to the Mesoblast Board of Directors
- Responding to the receipt of the United States Food & Drug Administration (FDA) Complete Response Letter last October 

via discussions with the United States Food & Drug Administration (FDA). These have occurred through a well-established 
regulatory process that may include a resubmission with a six-month review with the aim of achieving approval of 
remestemcel-L in the treatment of steroid-refractory acute graft versus host disease (SR-aGVHD) in children.

- Collating, analysing, finalising and releasing results from the randomized controlled trial of remestemcel-L in 222 
ventilator-dependent COVID-19 patients with moderate/severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). These showed 
that patients who received remestemcel-L had a reduced mortality through 60 and 90 days in the pre-specified population 
under 65 years old.

- Collating, analysing, finalising and releasing results from the trial of rexlemestrocel-L (MPC-06-ID) in 404 patients with 
chronic low back pain (CLBP) due to degenerative disc disease (DDD). These showed that a single injection of 
rexlemestrocel-L + hyaluronic acid (HA) carrier may provide at least two years of pain reduction, with opioid sparing 
activity in patients using opioids at baseline.

- Collating, analysing, finalising and releasing results from the Phase 3 trial of rexlemestrocel-L (REVASCOR®) in 537 
patients with chronic heart failure (CHF) with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (HFrEF), which showed that a 
single dose of rexlemestrocel-L resulted in substantial reductions in heart attacks and strokes across the entire evaluable 
study population of NYHA class II and III patients and a significant and durable reduction in cardiac death in patients with 
New York Heart Association (NYHA) class II disease.

- Commencement of an investigator-led randomized, controlled study of remestemcel-L delivered by an endoscope directly 
to the areas of inflammation and tissue injury in up to 48 patients with medically refractory Crohn’s disease or ulcerative 
colitis.

- Mesoblast has entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Novartis for the development, manufacture, and 
commercialization of remestemcel-L, with an initial focus on the treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 
including that associated with COVID-19. The agreement remains subject to certain closing conditions, including time to 
analyze the results from the COVID-19 ARDS trial.
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised during the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 
2019 were AUD 4.42, AUD 3.47 and AUD 2.06 respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options and 
loan funded shares outstanding as of June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 4.49 years, 4.79 years and 4.53 years, respectively.

b. Existing share-based payment arrangements

General terms and conditions attached to share based payments

Share options pursuant to the employee share option plan are generally granted in three equal tranches. For issues granted prior 
to July 1, 2015 the length of time from grant date to expiry date was typically 5 years. Grants since July 1, 2015, are issued with a 
seven year term. Vesting occurs based on achievement of performance conditions and/or progressively over the life of the option with 
the first tranche vesting one year from grant date, the second tranche two years from grant date, and the third tranche three years from 
grant date. On cessation of employment the Company’s board of directors determines if a leaver is a bad leaver or not. If a participant 
is deemed a bad leaver, all rights, entitlements and interests in any unexercised options or shares (pursuant to the loan funded share 
plan) held by the participant will be forfeited and will lapse immediately. If a leaver is not a bad leaver they may retain vested options 
and shares (pursuant to the loan funded share plan), however, they must be exercised within 60 days of cessation of employment (or 
within a longer period if so determined by the Company’s board of directors), after which time they will lapse. Unvested options will 
normally be forfeited and lapse. 

This policy applies to all issues shown in the above table with the exception of the following:

25a(i&ii) Options were granted in two equal tranches and vested on the date that the option holder had direct involvement (to 
the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain confidential 
commercial objectives.

INC. As part of the acquisition of Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast, Inc. options were converted to options of the Company at 
a conversion ratio of 63.978. The Mesoblast, Inc. option exercise price per option was adjusted using the same 
conversion ratio. All options vested on acquisition date (December 7, 2010), and will expire according to their 
original expiry dates (with the exception of options held by directors which were limited to an expiry date not 
exceeding four years from acquisition). 

31b

35

Options were granted in two equal tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct involvement 
(to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain confidential 
commercial objectives.

Incentive rights granted pursuant to the Equity Facility Agreement with Kentgrove Capital, dated June 30, 2016, 
had fully vested on the agreement date and will expire thirty six months after the date of the issue of the incentive 
right. The terms of this agreement were amended on July 30, 2019. Under the amended terms, these incentive 
rights will expire thirty six months after the effective date of July 1, 2019.  

35a Additional incentive rights granted pursuant to the Amendment Deed of the Equity Facility Agreement with 
Kentgrove Capital, dated July 30, 2019, had fully vested on the agreement date and will expire thirty six months 
after the date of the issue of the incentive right.

36a & 36b Options were granted in two or three equal tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct 
involvement (to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain 
confidential commercial objectives.

49a, 49b, 50, 
50a, 53, 64b, 
64c, 64d, 64e & 
71

Options were granted two or three equal tranches and are required to satisfy certain pre-specified performance 
conditions and time-based vesting conditions prior to vesting. Time-based conditions restrict vesting to a maximum 
of one third at 12 months, two thirds at 24 months and full grant at 36 months, but only if the pre-specified 
performance conditions have been met.

38a, 40a, 57 & 
66

Options were granted in one tranche and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct involvement (to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain confidential 
commercial objectives.

39a Options were granted in one or two equal tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct 
involvement (to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain 
confidential commercial objectives.
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51 Options were granted in two equal tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct involvement 
(to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain confidential 
commercial objectives.

55 Options were granted in five tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct involvement (to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain confidential 
commercial objectives.

63a Options were granted in three or eight tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct 
involvement (to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain 
confidential commercial objectives. Time-based conditions restrict vesting to a maximum of one third at 12 
months, two thirds at 24 months and full grant at 36 months, but only if the pre-specified performance conditions 
have been met.

64a Options were granted in one, two, three or five tranches and will vest on the date that the option holder has direct 
involvement (to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company’s board of directors) in the Company achieving certain 
confidential commercial objectives. Time-based conditions restrict vesting to a maximum of one third at 12 
months, two thirds at 24 months and full grant at 36 months, but only if the pre-specified performance conditions 
have been met.

69 & 73 Options were granted in one tranche and vested on the date on which board approval was obtained

Modifications to share-based payment arrangements

There were no modifications made to share-based payment arrangements during the years ended June 30, 2019, June 30, 
2020,and June 30, 2021.

c. Fair values of share based payments 

The weighted average fair value of share options granted during the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were AUD 1.42, 
AUD 1.07 and AUD 0.95, respectively.

The fair value of all shared-based payments made has been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. This model requires the 
following inputs:

Share price at acceptance date

The share price used in valuation is the share price at the date at which the entity and the employee agree to a share-based 
payment arrangement, being when the entity and the employee have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the 
arrangement. This price is generally the volume weighted average share price for the five trading days leading up to the date.

Exercise price

The exercise price is a known value that is contained in the agreements.

Share price volatility

The model requires the Company’s share price volatility to be measured. In estimating the expected volatility of the underlying 
shares our objective is to approximate the expectations that would be reflected in a current market or negotiated exchange price for the 
option. Historical volatility data is considered in determining expected future volatility.

Life of the option

The life is generally the time period from grant date through to expiry. Certain assumptions have been made regarding “early 
exercise” i.e. options exercised ahead of the expiry date, with respect to option series 14 and later. These assumptions have been based 
on historical trends for option exercises within the Company and take into consideration exercise trends that are also evident as a 
result of local taxation laws.
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Dividend yield

The Company has yet to pay a dividend so it has been assumed the dividend yield on the shares underlying the options will be 
0%.

Risk free interest rate

This has been sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia historical interest rate tables for government bonds.

Model inputs 

The model inputs for the valuations of options approved and granted during the year ended June 30, 2021 are as follows:
 

Series  Valuation date(1)  

Exercise
price per share

AUD   

Share price at
acceptance date

AUD   
Expected share
price volatility   Life(2)  Dividend yield   

Risk-free
interest rate  

61  28-Jul-20   2.51    3.60   60.95%   6.1 yrs  0%   0.44%  
63  08-Apr-21   4.02    2.21   66.74%   5.5 yrs  0%   0.65%  
63a  05-Jul-21   3.65    2.03   66.45%   5.3 yrs  0%   0.72%  
64  28-Jul-20   3.75    3.60   60.95%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.44%  
64a  05-Jul-21   3.41    2.03   66.45%   5.5 yrs  0%   0.72%  
64b  30-Jun-21   3.41    2.09   66.48%   5.5 yrs  0%   0.77%  
64c  25-Nov-20   3.41    4.12   65.36%   6.0 yrs  0%   0.30%  
64d  30-Jun-21   3.41    2.09   66.48%   5.5 yrs  0%   0.77%  
64e  05-Jul-21   3.41    2.03   66.45%   5.5 yrs  0%   0.72%  
65  25-Sep-20   5.76    5.02   63.16%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.34%  
66  16-Oct-20   4.78    3.24   65.17%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.27%  
67  10-Nov-20   3.84    3.22   65.06%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.30%  
68  24-Dec-20   3.60    2.38   67.22%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.35%  
69  24-Dec-20   3.60    2.38   67.22%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.35%  
71  29-Mar-21   2.67    2.35   66.81%   6.2 yrs  0%   0.66%  
73  30-Jun-21   0.00    2.09   66.48%   0.2 yrs  0%   0.77%  

(1) Valuation date is the date at which the entity and the employee agree to a share-based payment arrangement, being when the 
entity and the employee have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement.

(2) Expected life after factoring likely early exercise.

The closing share market price of an ordinary share of Mesoblast Limited on the ASX as of June 30, 2021 was AUD 1.98.
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The model inputs for the valuations of options approved and granted during the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows:
 

Series  Valuation date(1)  

Exercise
price per share

AUD   

Share price at
acceptance date

AUD   
Expected share
price volatility   Life(2)  Dividend yield   

Risk-free
interest rate  

43b  14-May-20   1.87    3.55   60.39%   4.5 yrs  0%   0.37%  
49  17-Sep-19   1.62    1.93   54.10%   6.1 yrs  0%   0.89%  
49a  15-Mar-20   1.47    1.87   55.48%   5.8 yrs  0%   0.56%  
49a  17-Dec-19   1.47    1.93   53.65%   5.9 yrs  0%   0.82%  
49b  27-Nov-19   1.47    1.83   53.85%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.73%  
49c  27-Nov-19   1.47    1.83   53.85%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.73%  
50  13-Sep-19   1.47    1.88   54.02%   6.1 yrs  0%   0.93%  
50a  16-Sep-19   1.47    2.03   54.21%   6.1 yrs  0%   0.95%  
51  28-Mar-20   1.47    1.17   55.60%   5.7 yrs  0%   0.45%  
52  17-Dec-19   1.62    1.93   53.65%   6.0 yrs  0%   0.82%  
53  26-Mar-20   1.47    1.17   58.30%   5.8 yrs  0%   0.47%  
54  28-Jan-20   1.98    2.86   56.63%   6.1 yrs  0%   0.71%  
56  27-Nov-19   1.83    1.83   53.80%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.73%  
57  25-Nov-19   1.80    1.80   53.82%   6.3 yrs  0%   0.82%  
58  10-Apr-20   1.98    1.97   57.65%   5.9 yrs  0%   0.45%  
59  24-May-20   3.38    3.79   60.56%   6.0 yrs  0%   0.40%  
60  25-May-20   2.51    3.79   60.56%   6.2 yrs  0%   0.40%  

(1) Valuation date is the date at which the entity and the employee agree to a share-based payment arrangement, being when the 
entity and the employee have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement.

(2) Expected life after factoring likely early exercise.

The closing share market price of an ordinary share of Mesoblast Limited on the ASX as of June 30, 2020 was AUD 3.25.

The model inputs for the valuations of options approved and granted during the year ended June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Series  Valuation date(1)  

Exercise
price per share

AUD   

Share price at
acceptance date

AUD   
Expected share
price volatility   Life(2)  Dividend yield   

Risk-free
interest rate  

41  03-Sep-18   1.52    1.52   52.31%   5.8 yrs  0%   2.16%  
43  24-Oct-18   1.87    1.70   52.78%   5.9 yrs  0%   2.27%  
44  17-Jan-19   1.72    1.59   54.40%   5.6 yrs  0%   1.91%  
45  20-Dec-18   1.33    1.33   54.11%   6.1 yrs  0%   2.01%  
46  07-Jun-19   1.45    1.33   53.92%   5.8 yrs  0%   1.14%  
47  04-Jun-19   1.45    1.33   53.95%   5.8 yrs  0%   1.19%  
48  04-Apr-19   1.48    1.49   54.22%   6.1 yrs  0%   1.50%  
55  29-May-19   1.48    1.48   53.98%   6.3 yrs  0%   1.18%  

(1) Valuation date is the date at which the entity and the employee agree to a share-based payment arrangement, being when the 
entity and the employee have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement.

(2) Expected life after factoring likely early exercise.

The closing share market price of an ordinary share of Mesoblast Limited on the ASX as of June 30, 2019 was AUD 1.48.
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18. Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related 
practices and non-related audit firms:

  Year Ended June 30,  
(in U.S. dollars)  2021   2020   2019  

a. PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia             
Audit and other assurance services             
Audit and review of financial reports   747,783   713,461   690,245 
Other audit services(1)   91,750   14,097   — 
Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia   839,533   727,558   690,245 
             
b. Network firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia             
Audit and other assurance services             
Audit and review of financial reports   130,450   108,262   89,038 
Total remuneration of Network firms of
   PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia   130,450   108,262   89,038 
Total auditors' remuneration(2)   969,983   835,820   779,283  

(1) Other audit services relates to services performed in connection with the filing of registration statements on the Form S-8 and F-
3. 

(2) All services provided are considered audit services for the purpose of SEC classification.
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19. Losses per share
 

  Years Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020   2019  

(Losses) per share             
(in cents)             
(a) Basic (losses) per share             
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary
   equity holders of the company

 
 (16.33)   (14.74)   (18.16)

Total basic (losses) per share attributable to the ordinary
   equity holders of the company

 
 (16.33)   (14.74)   (18.16)

             
(b) Diluted (losses) per share             
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary
   equity holders of the company

 
 (16.33)   (14.74)   (18.16)

Total basic (losses) per share attributable to the ordinary
   equity holders of the company

 
 (16.33)   (14.74)   (18.16)

             
(c) Reconciliation of (losses) used in calculating (losses) per share             
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)             
Basic (losses) per share             
(Losses) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
   company used in calculating basic (losses) per share:

 
           

From continuing operations   (98,811)   (77,940)   (89,799)
             
Diluted (losses) per share             
(Losses) from continuing operations attributable to the
   ordinary equity holders of the company:             
Used in calculating basic (losses) per share   (98,811)   (77,940)   (89,799)
(Losses) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
   company used in calculating diluted losses per share   (98,811)   (77,940)   (89,799)
             

    

  
2021

Number   
2020

Number   
2019

Number  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the
   denominator in calculating basic losses per share   605,064,036   528,821,630   494,381,490 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and
   potential ordinary shares used in calculating
   diluted losses per share

 
 605,064,036 

 
 528,821,630   494,381,490  

Options granted to employees (see Note 17) are considered to be potential ordinary shares. These securities have been excluded 
from the determination of basic losses per shares. Shares that may be paid as contingent consideration have also been excluded from 
basic losses per share. They have also been excluded from the calculation of diluted losses per share because they are anti-dilutive for 
the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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20. Parent entity financial information

a. Summary financial information

The parent entity financial information disclosure is an Australian Disclosure Requirement as required by Corporations 
Regulations 2001. The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

  As of June 30,  
(in U.S. dollars, in thousands)  2021   2020  

Balance Sheet         
Current Assets   21,135   22,715 
Total Assets   943,030   775,407 
         
Current Liabilities   9,136   11,765 
Total Liabilities   13,904   17,278 
         
Shareholders' Equity         
Issued Capital   1,163,165   1,051,450 
Reserves         

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve   (150,306)  (216,440)
Share Options Reserve   77,310   69,695 
Warrant Reserve   12,969   — 

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings   (174,012)  (146,576)
   929,126   758,129 
         
Loss for the period   (27,436)  (16,981)
Total comprehensive loss for the period   (27,436)  (16,981)

b. Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

(i) Central Adelaide Local Health Network Incorporated (“CALHNI”) (formerly Medvet)

Mesoblast Limited acquired certain intellectual property relating to our MPCs, or Medvet IP, pursuant to an Intellectual 
Property Assignment Deed, or IP Deed, with Medvet Science Pty Ltd, or Medvet. Medvet’s rights under the IP Deed were transferred 
to Central Adelaide Local Health Network Incorporated, or CALHNI, in November 2011. In connection with its use of the Medvet IP, 
on completion of certain milestones Mesoblast Limited will be obligated to pay CALHNI, as successor in interest to Medvet, (i) 
certain aggregated milestone payments of up to $2.2 million and single-digit royalties on net sales of products covered by the Medvet 
IP, for cardiac muscle and blood vessel applications and bone and cartilage regeneration and repair applications, subject to minimum 
annual royalties beginning in the first year of commercial sale of those products and (ii) single-digit royalties on net sales of the 
specified products for applications outside the specified fields.  

21. Segment information

Operating segments are identified on the basis of whether the allocation of resources and/or the assessment of performance of a 
particular component of the Company’s activities are regularly reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker as a 
separate operating segment. By these criteria, the activities of the Company are considered to be one segment being the development 
of cell technology platform for commercialization, and the segmental analysis is the same as the analysis for the Company as a whole. 
The chief operating decision maker (Chief Executive Officer) reviews the consolidated income statement, balance sheet, and statement 
of cash flows regularly to make decisions about the Company’s resources and to assess overall performance.

22. Legal proceedings

In October 2020, in light of the Complete Response Letter released by the FDA and the decline in the market price of our ADS, 
a purported class action lawsuit was filed in the U.S Federal District Court for the Southern District of New York on behalf of 
purchasers or acquirers of our ADS against the Company, its Chief Executive Officer, its Chief Financial Officer and its Chief 
Medical Officer for alleged violations of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company will vigorously defend this and any 
other similarly-based litigation should it arise. The Company cannot provide any assurance as to the possible outcome or cost to us 
from the lawsuit, particularly as it is at an early stage, nor how long it may take to resolve such lawsuit. Thus, the Company has not 
accrued any amounts in connection with such legal proceedings other than ongoing attorney’s fees. 
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23. Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements as set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements 
are for the consolidated entity consisting of Mesoblast Limited and its subsidiaries.

a. Change in accounting policies

There were no new accounting policies adopted by the Group in the year ended June 30, 2021. These financial statements follow 
the same accounting policies as compared to the June 30, 2020 consolidated financial statements and related notes as filed with the 
Australian Securities Exchange and the Securities and Exchange Commission.

b. Principles of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Mesoblast Limited (“Company”
or “Parent Entity”) as of June 30, 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Mesoblast Limited and its 
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

ii. Employee share trust

The Group has formed a trust to administer the Group’s employee share scheme. This trust is consolidated, as the substance of
the relationship is that the trust is controlled by the Group.

c. Segment reporting

The Group operates in one segment as set out in Note 21.

d. Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currency of Mesoblast Limited is the 
AUD. The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii) Translations and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transaction at period 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in net loss, except when they 
are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or attributable to part of the net investment 
in a foreign operation.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
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through profit or loss are recognized in net loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets 
such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for the balance sheets presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheets;

• income and expenses for the statements of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and all resulting exchange differences are recognized 
in other comprehensive income.

(iv) Other

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings 
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognized in other comprehensive income. When a 
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are 
reclassified to net loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entities and translated at the closing rate.

e. Revenue recognition

The Group adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on July 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective 
approach. Revenue from contracts with customers is measured and recognized in accordance with the five step model prescribed by 
the standard.

First, contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15 are identified. Distinct promises within the contract are identified as 
performance obligations. The transaction price of the contract is measured based on the amount of consideration the Group expect to 
be entitled from the customer in exchange for goods or services. Factors such as requirements around variable consideration, 
significant financing components, noncash consideration, or amounts payable to customers also determine the transaction price. The 
transaction is then allocated to separate performance obligations in the contract based on relative standalone selling prices. Revenue is 
recognized when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied, which is when control of the promised good or service is transferred to 
the customer. 

There was no cumulative impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on July 1, 2018.

Revenues from contracts with customers comprise commercialization and milestone revenue. The Group also have revenue 
from research and development tax incentives and interest revenue.

(i) Commercialization and milestone revenue

Commercialization and milestone revenue generally includes non-refundable upfront license and collaboration fees; milestone 
payments, the receipt of which is dependent upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory or commercial milestones; as well as 
royalties on product sales of licensed products, if and when such product sales occur; and revenue from the supply of products. 
Payment is generally due on standard terms of 30 to 60 days.

Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria are recorded as deferred revenue or deferred consideration 
in our consolidated balance sheets, depending on the nature of arrangement. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue within the 
12 months following the balance sheet date are classified within current liabilities. Amounts not expected to be recognized as revenue 
within the 12 months following the balance sheet date are classified within non-current liabilities.

Milestone revenue

The Group applies the five-step method under the standard to measure and recognize milestone revenue. 

The receipt of milestone payments is often contingent on meeting certain clinical, regulatory or commercial targets, and is 
therefore considered variable consideration. The Group estimate the transaction price of the contingent milestone using the most likely 
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amount method. The Group include in the transaction price some or all of the amount of the contingent milestone only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the 
uncertainty associated with the contingent milestone is subsequently resolved. Milestone payments that are not within the control of 
the Company, such as regulatory approvals, are not considered highly probable of being achieved until those approvals are received. 
Any changes in the transaction price are allocated to all performance obligations in the contract unless the variable consideration 
relates only to one or more, but not all, of the performance obligations.

When consideration for milestones is a sale-based or usage-based royalty that arises from licenses of IP (such as cumulative net 
sales targets), revenue is recognized at the later of when (or as) the subsequent sale or usage occurs, or when the performance 
obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).

Licenses of intellectual property 

When licenses of IP are distinct from other goods or services promised in the contract, the Group recognize the transaction price 
allocated to the license as revenue upon transfer of control of the license to the customer. The Group evaluate all other promised goods 
or services in the license agreement to determine if they are distinct. If they are not distinct, they are combined with other promised 
goods or services to create a bundle of promised goods or services that is distinct. 

The transaction price allocated to the license performance obligation is recognized based on the nature of the license 
arrangement. The transaction price is recognized over time if the nature of the license is a “right to access” license. This is when the 
Group undertake activities that significantly affect the IP to which the customer has rights, the rights granted by the license directly 
expose the customer to any positive or negative effects of our activities, and those activities do not result in the transfer of a good or 
service to the customer as those activities occur. When licenses do not meet the criteria to be a right to access license, the license is a 
“right to use” license, and the transaction price is recognized at the point in time when the customer obtains control over the license.

Sales-based or usage-based royalties

Licenses of IP can include royalties that are based on the customer’s usage of the IP or sale of products that contain the IP. The 
Group apply the specific exception to the general requirements of variable consideration and the constraint on variable consideration 
for sales-based or usage-based royalties promised in a license of IP. The exception requires such revenue to be recognized at the later 
of when (or as) the subsequent sale or usage occurs and the performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-
based royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).

Grünenthal arrangement 

In September 2019, the Group entered into a strategic partnership with Grünenthal for the development and commercialization 
in Europe and Latin America of the Group’s allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cell (“MPC”) product, MPC-06-ID, receiving 
exclusive rights to the Phase 3 allogeneic product candidate for the treatment of low back pain due to degenerative disc disease. 

The Group received a non-refundable upfront payment of $15.0 million in October 2019, on signing of the contract with 
Grünenthal.  The Group received a milestone payment in December 2019 of $2.5 million in relation to meeting a milestone event as 
part of the strategic partnership with Grünenthal. 

In June 2021, the Group announced its intention to leverage the results from a planned US trial to support potential product 
approvals in both the US and EU by including 20% EU patients in order to provide regulatory harmonization, cost efficiencies and 
streamlined timelines, without initiating an EU trial. As a result, the strategic partnership with Grünenthal has been amended and 
milestone payments relating to R&D and CMC services and other development services which were linked to the Europe trial have 
been removed, instead the Group is eligible to receive payments up to US$112.5 million prior to product launch in the EU, inclusive 
of US$17.5 million already received, if certain clinical and regulatory milestones are satisfied and reimbursement targets are achieved. 
Cumulative milestone payments could reach US$1 billion depending on the final outcome of Phase 3 studies and patient adoption. The 
Group will also receive tiered double-digit royalties on product sales as per the original agreement.  

The $2.5 million milestone payment received in December 2019 from Grünenthal was considered constrained and is still 
considered deferred consideration as of June 30, 2021. Revenue will be recognized when the performance obligation is satisfied, 
which is when the clinical trial has recruited the required amount of European patients. There was no milestone revenue recognized in 
relation to this strategic partnership with Grünenthal in the year ended June 30, 2021.
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Tasly arrangement 

In July 2018, the Group entered into a strategic alliance with Tasly for the development, manufacture and commercialization in 
China of the Group’s allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cell MPC products, MPC-150-IM and MPC-25-IC. Tasly received all 
exclusive rights for MPC-150-IM and MPC-25-IC in China and Tasly will fund all development, manufacturing and 
commercialization activities in China.

The Group received a $20.0 million upfront technology access fee from Tasly upon closing of this strategic alliance in October 
2018. The Group is also entitled to receive $25.0 million on product regulatory approvals in China, double-digit escalating royalties on 
net product sales and up to six escalating milestone payments when the product candidates reach certain sales thresholds in China.

Under IFRS 15, upon completion of this strategic alliance in September 2018, the Group recognized $10.0 million in milestone 
revenue from the $20.0 million upfront technology access fee received in October 2018, as this was the portion of revenue that control 
was transferred to Tasly, and the remaining $10.0 million from the $20.0 million upfront payment was recognized as deferred 
consideration on the consolidated balance sheet. In the year ended June 30, 2020, the deferred consideration amount was recognized in 
revenue as the control for this portion of revenue was transferred to Tasly based on the Group’s decision regarding the exercise of the 
Group’s rights in the terms and conditions of the agreement.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, no revenue was recognized in relation to this strategic alliance with Tasly.

TiGenix arrangement 

In December 2017, the Group entered into a patent license agreement with TiGenix, now a wholly owned subsidiary of Takeda, 
which granted Takeda exclusive access to certain of our patents to support global commercialization of the adipose-derived MSC 
product, Alofisel® a registered trademark of TiGenix, previously known as Cx601, for the local treatment of fistulae. The agreement 
includes the right for Takeda to grant sub-licenses to affiliates and third parties. The Group is entitled to further payments up to €10.0 
million when Takeda reaches certain product regulatory milestones. Additionally, the Group will receive single digit royalties on net 
sales of Alofisel®.

In the year ended June 30, 2020, the Group commenced earning royalty income on sales of Alofisel® in Europe by our licensee 
Takeda. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Group earned $0.2 million of royalty income on sales of Alofisel® in Europe by our 
licensee Takeda, compared to a minimal amount year ended June 30, 2020.

JCR arrangement

In October 2013, the Group acquired all of Osiris’ culture-expanded, MSC-based assets. These assets included assumption of a 
collaboration agreement with JCR, a research and development oriented pharmaceutical company in Japan. Revenue recognized under 
this agreement is limited to the amount of cash received or for which the Group is entitled, as JCR has the right to terminate the 
agreement at any time.

Under the JCR Agreement, JCR is responsible for all development and manufacturing costs including sales and marketing 
expenses. Under the JCR Agreement the Group assumed from Osiris, JCR has the right to develop our MSCs in two fields for the 
Japanese market: exclusive in conjunction with the treatment of hematological malignancies by the use of hematopoietic stem cells 
derived from peripheral blood, cord blood or bone marrow, or the First JCR Field; and non-exclusive for developing assays that use 
liver cells for non-clinical drug screening and evaluation, or the Second JCR Field. With respect to the First JCR Field, the Group has 
received all sales milestone payments and ongoing is entitled to escalating double-digit royalties. These royalties are subject to 
possible renegotiation downward in the event of competition from non-infringing products in Japan. With respect to the Second JCR 
Field, the Group is entitled to a double-digit profit share. The Group expanded our partnership with JCR in Japan for two new 
indications: for wound healing in patients with Epidermolysis Bullosa (“EB”) in October 2018, and for hypoxic ischemic 
encephalopathy (“HIE”), a condition suffered by newborns who lack sufficient blood supply and oxygen to the brain, in June 2019. 
The Group will receive royalties on TEMCELL product sales for EB and HIE, if and when JCR begins selling TEMCELL for such 
indications in Japan. The Group apply the sales-based and usage-based royalty exception for licenses of intellectual property and 
therefore recognize royalty revenue at the later of when the subsequent sale or usage occurs and the associated performance obligation 
has been satisfied.

In the year ended, June 30, 2021 the Group recognized $7.2 million in commercialization revenue relating to royalty income 
earned on sales of TEMCELL in Japan by our licensee JCR, compared with $6.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2020. These 
amounts were recorded in revenue as there are no further performance obligations required in regards to these items. 
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In the year ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Group recognized nil million and $1.0 million, respectively, in milestone revenue 
upon our licensee, JCR, reaching cumulative net sales milestones for sales of TEMCELL in Japan. This amount was recorded in 
revenue as there were no further performance obligations required in regard to this item. There was no milestone revenue recognized 
in year ended June 30, 2021. 

(ii) Interest revenue

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount.

(iii) Research and development tax incentive

The Australian Government replaced the research and development tax concession with the research and development tax 
incentive from July 1, 2011. The provisions provide refundable or non-refundable tax offsets.

The research and development tax incentive applies to expenditure incurred and the use of depreciating assets in an income year 
commencing on or after July 1, 2011. The research and development tax incentive credit is available for our research and development 
activities in Australia as well as research and development activities outside of Australia to the extent such non-Australian based 
activities relate to intellectual property owned by our Australian resident entities do not exceed half the expenses for the relevant 
activities and are approved by the Australian government. A refundable tax offset is available to eligible companies with an annual 
aggregate turnover of less than A$20.0 million. Eligible companies can receive a refundable tax offset for a percentage of their 
research and development spending. For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the rate of the refundable tax offset is 43.5%. 

The combined worldwide turnover of the Mesoblast Group did not exceed of A$20.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2021 
making us eligible for the refundable tax offset for the research and development tax incentive. However, management determined the 
majority of activities were not eligible under the incentive scheme and therefore did not apply for a tax offset. The Group was 
ineligible for the refundable tax offset for the research and development tax incentive for the year ended June 30, 2020.  Consequently, 
no income was recognized from the Research and Development Tax Incentive program for the year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 

The Group’s research and development activities can potentially be eligible under an Australian government tax incentive. 
Management has assessed these activities and expenditure to determine which are likely to be eligible under the incentive scheme. At 
each period end management estimates and recognizes the refundable tax offset available to the Group based on available information 
at the time.

The receivable for reimbursable amounts that have not been collected is reflected in trade and other receivables in the Group’s 
consolidated balance sheets. Income associated with the research and development tax incentive is recorded in the Group’s other 
operating income and expenses in the Group’s consolidated income statement.

f. Inventories

Inventories are included in the financial statements at the lower of cost (including raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs 
and related production overheads) and net realizable value. Pre-launch inventory is held as an asset when there is a high probability of 
regulatory approval for the product in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories. Before that point, a provision is made against the carrying 
value to its recoverable amount in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; the provision is 
then reversed at the point when a high probability of regulatory approval is determined. 

The Group considers a number of factors in determining the probability of the product candidate realizing future economic 
benefit, including the product candidate’s current status in the regulatory approval process, results from the related pivotal clinical 
trial, results from meetings with relevant regulatory agencies prior to the filing of regulatory applications, the market need, historical 
experience, as well as potential impediments to the approval process such as product safety or efficacy, commercialization and market 
trends.

When a provision is made against the carrying value of pre-launch inventory the costs are recognized within Manufacturing 
Commercialization expenses. When the high probability threshold is met, the provision will be reversed through Manufacturing 
Commercialization expenses. As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, there was $21.9 million and $8.8 million of pre-launch 
inventory recognized on the balance sheet that was fully provided for, respectively. For the year ended June 30, 2021 and the year 
ended June 30, 2020 $13.1 million and $8.8 million of pre-launch inventory costs have been recognized within Manufacturing 
Commercialization expenses in relation to the provision against the carrying value of pre-launch inventory. For the year ended June 
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30, 2021, $0.5 million of pre-launch inventory costs were provided for as obsolete stock and these costs have been recognized within 
Manufacturing Commercialization expenses during the period. There was no provision for obsolete stock at June 30, 2020.

g. Research and development undertaken internally

The Group currently does not have any capitalized development costs. Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as 
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects, which consist of preclinical and clinical trials, manufacturing development, and 
general research, are recognized as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will, after considering its commercial and 
technical feasibility, be completed and generate future economic benefits and its costs can be measured reliably.

The expenditure capitalized comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct labor and an 
appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development costs that do not meet these criteria are expensed as incurred. Development 
costs previously recognized as expenses, are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period and will remain expensed. Capitalized 
development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortized from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line 
basis over its useful life.

h. Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the 
extent that there are sufficient deferred tax liabilities unwinding.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and 
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the 
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in net loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

i. Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair 
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
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The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of 
the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognized directly in net loss as a 
bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present 
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are 
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

j. Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to dispose and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets (other than 
goodwill) that have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Management maintains internal valuations of each asset annually (or more frequently should indicators of impairment be 
identified) and valuations from independent experts are requested periodically, within every three year period. The internal valuations 
are continually reviewed by management and consideration is given as to whether there are indicators of impairment which would 
warrant impairment testing. An external valuation of our assets was carried out by an independent expert as at March 31, 2020 with 
the recoverable amount of each asset exceeding its carrying amount. 

k. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with financial institutions, other short-term and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

l. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables represent the principal amounts due at balance date less, where applicable, any 
provision for expected credit losses. The Group uses the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected credit loss allowance. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off in the consolidated income 
statement. All trade receivables and other receivables are recognized at the value of the amounts receivable, as they are due for 
settlement within 60 days and therefore do not require remeasurement.

m. Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and

• those to be measured at amortized cost

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the 
cash flow. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial 
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). See Note 5 for details 
about each type of financial asset.
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(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their 
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in Note 5(g).

Equity instruments

The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group has elected to present fair value gains 
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss 
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other 
income when the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as 
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value.

(iv) Impairment

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to 
be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 5(b) for further details.

n. Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that 
does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized immediately in profit or loss and are included in other income or other expenses.

o. Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Subsequent cost are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associates with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight line 
method (see Note 6(a)).

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal of plant and equipment are taken into account in determining the profit for the year.
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p. Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 23(i). Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets (Note 
6(c)). Goodwill is not amortized but it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets which requires testing be performed at any 
time during an annual period, provided the test is performed at the same time every year. The Group tests for impairment annually in 
the third quarter of each year. Additionally, assets must be tested for impairment if there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. The recoverable amounts of our assets and cash-generating units have been determined based on fair value less costs to sell 
calculations, which require the use of certain assumptions. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash 
generating units or groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill 
arose, identified according to operating segments (Note 21).

(ii) Acquired licenses to patents

Acquired licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Each 
asset is amortized through to the estimated patent expiry date which is reviewed and adjusted as patent extensions are granted. 

Payments made to third parties to acquire licenses to patents, including initial upfront and subsequent milestone payments are 
capitalized. For subsequent payments under existing license agreements payments are capitalized if they meet the definition of an 
intangible asset. Management reviews the substance of the payment to determine its classification. Generally, payments made for a 
verifiable outcome, such as completion of a clinical trial, regulatory approvals and sales target milestones would be accumulated into 
the cost of the intangible.

The Group periodically evaluates whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its acquired 
intangibles may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of the undiscounted future cash flow of 
these assets, or appropriate assets grouping is compared to the carrying value to determine whether an impairment exists. If the asset is 
determined to be impaired, the loss is measured based on the differences between the carrying value of the intangible asset and its fair 
value, which is determined based on the net present value of estimated future cash flows.

Royalty payments under license and sublicense agreements are expensed. 

(iii) In-process research and development acquired

In-process research and development that has been acquired as part of a business acquisition is considered to be an indefinite life 
intangible asset on the basis that it is incomplete and cannot be used in its current form. Indefinite life intangible assets are not 
amortized but rather are tested for impairment annually in the third quarter of each year, or whenever events or circumstances present 
an indication of impairment.

In-process research and development will continue to be tested for impairment until the related research and development efforts 
are either completed or abandoned. Upon completion of the related research and development efforts, management determines the 
remaining useful life of the intangible assets and amortizes them accordingly. In order for management to determine the remaining 
useful life of the asset, management would consider the expected flow of future economic benefits to the entity with reference to the 
product life cycle, competitive landscape, obsolescence, market demand, any remaining patent useful life and various other relevant 
factors. At the time of completion, when the asset becomes available for use, all costs recognized in in-process research and 
development that related to the completed asset are transferred to the intangible asset category, current marketed products, at the 
asset’s historical cost.

In the case of abandonment, the related research and development efforts are considered impaired and the asset is fully 
expensed.

(iv) Current marketed products

Current marketed products contain products that are currently being marketed. The assets are recognized on our balance sheet as 
a result of business acquisitions or reclassifications from In-process research and development upon completion. Upon completion, 
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when assets become available for use, assets are reclassified from in-process research and development to current marketed products 
at the historical value that they were recognized at within the in-process research and development category.

Upon reclassification to the current market products category management determines the remaining useful life of the intangible 
assets and amortizes them from the date they become available for use. In order for management to determine the remaining useful life 
of the asset, management would consider the expected flow of future economic benefits to the entity with reference to the product life 
cycle, competitive landscape, obsolescence, market demand, any remaining patent useful life and any other relevant factors.

Management have chosen to amortize all intangible assets with a finite useful life on a straight-line basis over the useful life of 
the asset. Current marketed products are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets which requires testing 
whenever there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 

q. Trade and other payables

Payables represent the principal amounts outstanding at balance date plus, where applicable, any accrued interest. Liabilities for 
payables and other amounts are carried at cost which approximates fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods 
and services received, whether or not billed. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 60 days of recognition.

r. Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or 
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. If it is 
not probable, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of 
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the 
facility to which it relates. 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party 
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred of liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other 
income or finance costs. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the reporting period

Hercules

In March 2018, the Group entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules, for a $75.0 million non-dilutive, four-year 
credit facility. The Group drew the first tranche of $35.0 million on closing and a further tranche of $15.0 million was drawn in 
January 2019. The loan matures in March 2022. 

In May 2021, the Group and Hercules amended the terms of the loan and security agreement to extend the interest-only period 
to October 1, 2021. In August 2021, the Group and Hercules amended the terms of the loan and security agreement to extend the 
interest-only period to January 1, 2022. Principal repayments can be further deferred to March 2022, subject to achieving certain 
milestones. 

Interest on the loan is payable monthly in arrears on the 1st day of the month. At closing date, the interest rate was 9.45%. At 
June 30, 2019, in line with increases in the U.S prime rate, the interest rate was 10.45%. On August 1, September 19 and October 31, 
2019, in line with the decreases in the U.S. prime rate, the interest rate on the loan decreased to 10.20%, 9.95% and 9.70%, 
respectively, and remains at 9.70% at June 30, 2021, in line with the terms of the loan agreement. As at June 30, 2021, the Group 
recognized $2.2 million in interest payable within twelve months as a current liability.   

In the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Group recognized gains of $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in the 
Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs. These remeasurement gains relate to the 
adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash flows from our existing credit 
facility.
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NovaQuest 

On June 29, 2018, the Group drew the first tranche of $30.0 million of the principal amount from the $40.0 million loan and 
security agreement with NovaQuest. There is a four-year interest only period, until July 2022, with the principal repayable in equal 
quarterly instalments over the remaining period of the loan. The loan matures in July 2026. Interest on the loan will accrue at a fixed 
rate of 15% per annum.

All interest and principal payments will be deferred until after the first commercial sale of remestemcel-L for the treatment in 
pediatric patients with SR-aGVHD. The Group can elect to prepay all outstanding amounts owing at any time prior to maturity, 
subject to a prepayment charge, and may decide to do so if net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD are significantly 
higher than current forecasts. 

If there are no net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD, the loan is only repayable on maturity in 2026. If in any 
annual period 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-aGVHD exceed the amount of accrued interest owing and, from 
2022, principal and accrued interest owing (“the payment cap”), Mesoblast will pay the payment cap and an additional portion of 
excess sales which may be used for early prepayment of the loan. If in any annual period 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for 
pediatric SR-aGVHD is less than the payment cap, then the payment is limited to 25% of net sales of remestemcel-L for pediatric SR-
aGVHD. Any unpaid interest will be added to the principal amounts owing and shall accrue further interest. At maturity date, any 
unpaid loan balances are repaid. 

Because of this relationship of net sales and repayments, changes in our estimated net sales may trigger an adjustment of the 
carrying amount of the financial liability to reflect the revised estimated cash flows. The carrying amount adjustment is recalculated 
by computing the present value of the revised estimated future cash flows at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate. 
The adjustment is recognized in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within finance costs in the period 
the revision is made.

In the year ended June 30, 2021, the Group recognized a gain of $4.8 million in the Income Statement as remeasurement of 
borrowing arrangements within finance costs in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the 
revised estimated future cash flows as a net result of changes to the key assumptions in development timelines. In the year ended June 
30, 2020 the Group recognized a loss of $0.7 million in the Income Statement as remeasurement of borrowing arrangements within 
finance costs in relation to the adjustment of the carrying amount of our financial liability to reflect the revised estimated future cash 
flows.   

As at June 30, 2021, the Group has recognized a current liability of $0.3 million which represents the present value of $0.4 
million loan administration fee which is payable annually in June.

The carrying amount of the loan and security agreement with NovaQuest is subordinated to the Group’s floating rate loan with 
the senior creditor, Hercules.

s. Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognized as interest expense.

Provisions are recorded on acquisition of a subsidiary, to the extent they relate to a subsidiary’s contingent liabilities, if it relates 
to a past event, regardless of whether it is probable the amount will be paid.

t. Employee benefits

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, bonuses, annual leave and long 
service leave.

Liabilities recognized in respect of employee benefits which are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related services are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rates expected 
to apply at the time of settlement.
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Liabilities recognized in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related services are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Group recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the 
following dates: when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognizes costs for a 
restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.

u. Share-based payments

Share-based payments are provided to eligible employees, directors and consultants via the Employee Share Option Plan 
(“ESOP”) and the Australian Loan Funded Share Plan (“LFSP”). The terms and conditions of the LFSP are in substance the same as 
the employee share options and therefore they are accounted for on the same basis.

Equity-settled share-based payments with employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instrument at acceptance date. Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has 
been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral 
considerations. It does not make any allowance for the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions. Further 
details on how the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions has been determined can be found in Note 17.

The fair value determined at the acceptance date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period, based on management’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. 
At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of shared-based payments that are expected to vest based on 
the non-market vesting conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

v. Leases 

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for 
use by the Group. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the 
net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability 
and are expensed in the Income Statement when incurred. There were no variable lease payments that were expensed in the Income 
Statement for the year ended June 30, 2021. The Group remeasures the lease liability and makes a corresponding adjustment to the 
related right-of-use asset whenever there is a change to the lease terms or expected payments under the lease, or a modification that is 
not accounted for as a separate lease. 

For certain contracts that contain lease and non-lease components, the Group accounts for each lease component within the 
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the contract. The Group identifies a separate lease component if there is 
an explicit or implicit identified asset in the contract and if the Group controls use of the identified asset. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
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• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs; and

• restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less, contracts that contain lease and non-lease 
components that are cancellable within 12 months and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense 
in profit or loss. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture.

w. Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognized separately in equity. Transaction costs are the costs 
that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those 
instruments not been issued.

x. Loss per share

(i) Basic losses per share

Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing:

• the loss attributable to equity holders of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares;

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fiscal year, adjusted for bonus elements in 
ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted losses per share

Diluted losses per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account

• the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

• the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

y. Goods and services tax (“GST”)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of GST except where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flow on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.

z. Rounding of amounts

Our company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial report. 
Unless mentioned otherwise, amounts within this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Legislative Instrument to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
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Australian Disclosure Requirements

Directors’ Declaration

In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and Notes set out on pages 140 to 206 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) Complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements, and

(ii) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at June 30, 2021 and of its performance
for the fiscal year ended on that date, and

(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

Note 1 ‘Basis of preparation’ confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

/s/ Joseph Swedish /s/ Silviu Itescu
Joseph Swedish Silviu Itescu
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Melbourne, August 31, 2021



PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757  
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK VIC 3006, GPO Box 1331 MELBOURNE VIC 3001 
T: +61 3 8603 1000, F: +61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au  

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Mesoblast Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Mesoblast Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities 
(together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its
financial performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2021
• the consolidated income statement for the year then ended
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
• the notes to consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information
• the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
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Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to Note 1(i) in the financial report, which indicates over the next twelve months in 
order to meet forecast expenditure, including repayment of the Hercules debt facility, cash inflows will 
be required. The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on completing either 
one or more strategic partnerships or restructuring existing loan agreements. The dependency on 
these planned events indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

The Group is a biopharmaceutical entity headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. It is in the process of 
developing and commercialising innovative cell-based medicines for inflammatory diseases. The 
Group has operations in Australia, the United States and Singapore. It is headquartered in Melbourne, 
Australia. 

Materiality Audit scope 

• For the purpose of our audit we used overall
Group materiality of $5.9 million, which 
represents approximately 5% of the Group’s 
adjusted loss before income tax.

• We applied this threshold, together with 
qualitative considerations, to determine the scope 
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of
our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements on the financial report as a whole.

• Our audit focused on where the Group made 
subjective judgements; for example, significant
accounting estimates involving assumptions and 
inherently uncertain future events.

• Audit procedures were performed over 
Australian, United States and Singaporean 
operations to enable us to give an opinion over 
the financial report as a whole. Under instruction 
and supervision by PwC Australia, local
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• We chose Group adjusted loss before income tax 
because, in our view, it is the benchmark against
which the performance of the Group is most
commonly measured.  We adjusted for the fair 
value remeasurement of contingent consideration 
as it fluctuates from year to year.

• We utilised a 5% threshold based on our 
professional judgement, noting it is within the 
range of commonly acceptable thresholds.

component auditors in the United States assisted 
with the procedures. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context. We communicated the key audit matters to the 
Audit and Risk Committee. 

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we 
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Impairment assessment of in-process 
research and development intangible assets 
and goodwill 

As described in Note 6(c) to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group’s consolidated in-process 
research and development (“IPRD”) intangible asset 
balance and consolidated goodwill balance were 
$427.8 million and $134.5 million at 30 June 2021, 
respectively.  

The Group tests the IPRD intangible asset and 
goodwill balances for impairment on an annual basis. 
The recoverability of the carrying values of goodwill 
and IPRD intangible assets are estimated by the 
Group using future cash flow projections and 
assumptions related to the outcome of research and 
development activities. These significant judgements 
and assumptions made by the Group are specific to 
the nature of the Group’s activities including 
estimates of market populations, product pricings, 

Our audit procedures included, among others, testing 
the Group’s process used to develop the fair value 
estimate, which included: 

• evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology and discounted cash 
flow models used to estimate recoverable 
amount of the Group’s IPRD and goodwill;

• testing the completeness, accuracy and 
relevance of the underlying data used in the 
models; and 

• evaluating the appropriateness of significant
assumptions used by the Group including,
including estimates of market populations,
product pricings, launch timings,
probabilities of success and discount rates. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

launch timings, probabilities of success and discount 
rates. 

The principal considerations for our determination 
that performing procedures relating to the 
impairment assessment of IPRD intangible assets and 
goodwill is a key audit matter are there were 
significant judgements made by the Group in 
estimating the recoverable amount of the Group’s 
IPRD and goodwill. This in turn led to a high degree 
of auditor judgement, subjectivity, and effort in 
performing procedures to evaluate the Group’s cash 
flow projections and significant assumptions, 
including estimates of market populations, product 
pricings, launch timings, probabilities of success and 
discount rates. In addition, the audit effort involved 
the use of professionals with specialised skill and 
knowledge to assist in performing these procedures 
and evaluating the audit evidence obtained. 

Evaluating the significant assumptions relating to 
the estimates of the recoverable amount of IPRD 
assets and goodwill involved evaluating whether 
the assumptions used by the Group were 
appropriate considering consistency with: 

• external market and industry data;
• the outcome of clinical trials;
• announcements made by the Group; and
• other comparable estimates of the 

Group’s valuation released by securities 
analysts.

Professionals with specialised skill and 
knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of 
the Group’s discount rate assumption.  

Fair value measurement of the provision for 
contingent consideration 

As described in Note 5(g) to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had a balance of $25.4 million 
as at 30 June 2021, for the provision for contingent 
consideration, which the Group determined using an 
internal valuation requiring the use of inputs 
classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The 
provision for contingent consideration is determined 
using a discounted cash flow model. Significant 
assumptions used by the Group to value the provision 
for contingent consideration included probabilities of 
success. 

The principal considerations for our determination 
that performing procedures relating to the fair value 
measurement of contingent consideration is a key 
audit matter are there were significant judgements 
made by the Group in estimating the fair value of the 
provision for contingent consideration. This in turn 
led to high degree of auditor judgement, subjectivity, 
and effort in performing procedures to evaluate the 

Our audit procedures included, among others, testing 
the Group’s process used to develop the fair value 
estimate, which included:  

• evaluating the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodology and discounted cash 
flow model used to estimate the value of the 
provision;

• testing the completeness, accuracy and 
relevance of the underlying data used in the 
model;

• evaluating the appropriateness of significant
assumptions used by the Group including,
including probabilities of success.

Evaluating the significant assumptions relating to the 
fair value measurement of the provision for 
contingent consideration involved evaluating whether 
the assumptions used by the Group were appropriate 
considering consistency with: 



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Group’s cash flow projections and significant 
assumptions, including probabilities of success. 

• external market and industry data;
• the outcome of clinical trials;
• announcements made by the Group; and
• evidence obtained from our procedures over 

the impairment assessment of IPRD 
intangible assets and goodwill.

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other 
information we obtained included the Part I, Part II and Items 17 and 19 of Part III of the Form 20-F. 
We expect the remaining other information to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's 
report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of 
our auditor's report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 
We have audited the remuneration report included in Item 6 (Directors, Senior Management and 
Employees) identified by the title ‘Start of the Remuneration Report for Australian Disclosure 
Requirements’ to ‘End of Remuneration Report’ of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2021. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Mesoblast Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Sam Lobley Melbourne 
Partner 31 August 2021 
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Item 19. Exhibits 

Item

    1.1 Constitution of Mesoblast Limited adopted on November 22, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on September 9, 2019). 

    1.2 Certificate of Registration of Mesoblast Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.1 Form of Deposit Agreement between Mesoblast Limited and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as depositary, and Holders of 
the American Depositary Receipts (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.2 Form of American Depositary Receipt evidencing American Depositary Shares (included in Exhibit 4.1).
    4.3† Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Mesoblast Limited and Lonza Walkersville, Inc. and Lonza 

Bioscience Singapore Pte. Ltd., dated September 20, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.4 Purchase Agreement by and between Mesoblast International Sàrl and Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., dated October 10, 2013 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on 
November 2, 2015).

    4.5 Amendment #1 to Purchase Agreement by and between Mesoblast International Sàrl and Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., dated 
December 17, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 
filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.6† License Agreement by and between Osiris Acquisition II, Inc. and JCR Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., dated August 26, 
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the 
SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.7† Amendment 1 to License Agreement by and between Osiris Acquisition II, Inc. and JCR Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., 
dated June 27, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 
filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.8 Intellectual Property Assignment Deed by and between Mesoblast Limited and Medvet Science Pty Ltd, dated October 4, 
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the 
SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.9# Employment Agreement, dated August 8, 2014, by and between Mesoblast Limited and Silviu Itescu (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 
2015).

    4.10 Sublease, by and between Mesoblast Limited and CIT Group Inc., dated September 27, 2011 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).  

    4.11 Sublease, by and between Mesoblast Limited and Collins Place Pty Ltd, AMP Capital Investors Limited, and Australia 
and New Zealand Banking Group Limited, dated April 21, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.12 Form of 2012 Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.13 Form of 2014 Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and Access (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015).

    4.14† Patent License and Settlement Agreement with TiGenix S.A.U., dated December 14, 2017 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on August 31, 2018).

    4.15† Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, Mesoblast International (UK) 
Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated March 6, 2018 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.22 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on August 31, 2018). 

    4.16† Loan and Security Agreement by and between Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast 
International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast International Sàrl and NQP SPV II, L.P., dated June 29, 2018 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.23 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on August 31, 2018). 

    4.17† Development and Commercialization Agreement by and between Mesoblast Inc., Mesoblast International Sàrl and Tasly 
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. dated July 17, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.24 to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on August 31, 2018). 

    4.18 Supplementary Agreement for Additional License by and between Mesoblast International Sarl and JCR 
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., dated October 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25 to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on September 9, 2019).

    4.19 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, Mesoblast 
International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated January 11, 
2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on 
September 9, 2019).
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4.20 Second Supplementary Agreement for Additional License by and between Mesoblast International Sarl and JCR 
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., dated June 5, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.27 to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on September 9, 2019).

    4.21 Employee Share Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-8 filed with the SEC on July 27, 2020).

4.22 Development and Commercialization Agreement by and between Mesoblast Limited and Mesoblast International Sàrl 
and Grünenthal GmbH, dated September 9, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on September 3, 2020). 

4.23 Manufacturing Services Agreement by and between Lonza Biosciences Singapore Pte. Ltd. and Mesoblast International 
Sàrl, dated October 9, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F 
filed with the SEC on September 3, 2020).

4.24 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, 
Mesoblast International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated 
December 17, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with 
the SEC on September 3, 2020).

4.25 Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited,
Mesoblast International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated 
February 25, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with 
the SEC on September 3, 2020).

4.26 Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited,
Mesoblast International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated 
August 15, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.26 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with 
the SEC on September 3, 2020).

4.27 Amendment to Development and Commercialization Agreement by and between Mesoblast Limited and Mesoblast 
International Sàrl and Grünenthal GmbH dated June 30, 2021.

4.28 Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, Mesoblast 
International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated January 28, 
2021.
Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, 
Mesoblast International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated 
May 26, 2021.

4.30

       4.31
    8.1*
      10
  12.1* 

  12.2* 

  13.1* 

  13.2* 

  99.1*
  99.2*

Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Mesoblast Limited, Mesoblast UK Limited, 
Mesoblast International (UK) Limited, Mesoblast, Inc., Mesoblast International Sarl and Hercules Capital, Inc., dated 
August 19, 2021.
Form of Warrant to purchase Ordinary Shares.
List of Significant Subsidiaries of Mesoblast Limited.
Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Appendix 4E preliminary final report for the twelve months to June 30, 2021.
Auditor’s independence declaration, dated August 31, 2021.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* Filed herewith.
† Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. These portions have been omitted and have been 

filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with brackets (“[***]”) 

because the identified confidential portions are not material and would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and 
authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

Mesoblast Limited

By: /s/ Joseph R Swedish
Name: Joseph R Swedish
Title: Chairman

By: /s/ Silviu Itescu
Name: Silviu Itescu
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Dated: August 31, 2021



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

A.	 Substantial Shareholders

Holders of substantial holdings of ordinary shares in the Company and the numbers of shares in which they and their associates have a relevant 
interest as of 30 September 2021 (as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to the Company under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)):

Shareholder	 Number of ordinary shares held

Professor Silviu Itescu	 68,958,928

M&G Investment Group	 51,752,865

Thorney Holdings 	 24,696,000

B.	 Distribution of Equity Securities and Voting Rights

Distribution of holders of equity securities as of 30 September 2021:

Range	 Ordinary shares (i)	 Options (ii)(1)	 Incentive rights (iii)(2)	 Warrants (iv)(3)

1 – 1,000	 17,593	 0		  0

1,001 – 5,000	 14,407	 1		  0

5,001 – 10,000	 3,905	 0		  3

10,001 – 100,000	 3,895	 41		  10

100,001 and over	 284	 53	 1	 16

Total number of holders of equity securities	 40,084	 95	 1	 29

Number of holders of less than a marketable  
parcel of 298 shares ($1.68 per share)	 5,854			 

(1) There are 42,644,134 options on issue as of 30 September 2021.
(2) 1,500,000 incentive rights are on issue, issued to Kentgrove Capital Pty Ltd.
(3) 15,027,327 warrants are on issue, issued as part of the March 2021 capital raise. 

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are:

i. Ordinary shares

On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting, in person or by proxy, shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have 
one vote.

ii. Options

No voting rights.

iii. Incentive rights

No voting rights.

iv. Warrants

No voting rights.
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C.	 Twenty Largest Holders of Quoted Securities

The names of the 20 largest shareholders of each class of quoted equity security as of 30 September 2021 are listed below.

Rank	 Name	 No. of shares held	 % of total shares

1	 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited	 121,770,725	 18.77

2	 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited	 98,085,940	 15.12

3	 Professor Silviu Itescu	 67,751,838	 10.44

4	 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited	 33,879,000	 5.22

5	 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd	 11,867,428	 1.83

6	 Thorney Holdings Pty Ltd	 10,000,000	 1.54

7	 TIGA Trading Pty Ltd	 10,000,000	 1.54

8	 BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd Six Sis Ltd 	 9,345,724	 1.44

9	 Independent Asset Management Pty Limited	 7,870,558	 1.21

10	 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited	 5,796,431	 0.89

11	 National Nominees Limited	 4,383,937	 0.68

12	 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd	 4,018,197	 0.62

13	 Mr Gregory John Matthews & Mrs Janine Marie Matthews 	 3,918,942	 0.60

14	 CS Third Nominees Pty Limited	 3,700,135	 0.57

15	 BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd	 2,977,948	 0.46

16	 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 	 2,402,815	 0.37

17	 Kentgrove Capital Pty Ltd	 2,000,100	 0.31

18	 Tigcorp Nominees Pty Ltd 	 1,995,000	 0.31

19	 National Nominees Limited 	 1,888,878	 0.29

20	 Lalp Pty Ltd	 1,647,144	 0.25

		  405,300,740	 62.48

D.	 Securities under escrow

There are no securities currently under escrow.

E.	 On-Market Buy-Back

There is no current on-market buy-back of the Company’s ordinary shares.

F.	 Stock Exchanges

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange and are traded under the symbol ‘MSB’. The Company’s 
American Depositary Shares, each representing five ordinary shares, are listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and are traded under  
the symbol ‘MESO’.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Directors

Joseph Swedish (Chairman)
Silviu Itescu
William Burns
Philip Facchina
Donal O’Dwyer
Eric Rose
Michael Spooner
Shawn Cline Tomasello

Company Secretary

Niva Sivakumar

Registered Office

Level 38
55 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Australia
Telephone +61 3 9639 6036
Facsimile +61 3 9639 6030

Country of Incorporation

Australia

Listing

Australian Securities Exchange
(ASX Code: MSB)

NASDAQ Global Select Market
(NASDAQ Code: MESO)

Website

www.mesoblast.com

Share Registry

Link Market Services Limited
Level 13, Tower 4
727 Collins Street
Melbourne 
Victoria 3000
Australia
Telephone +61 1300 554 474
Facsimile +61 2 9287 0303
www.linkmarketservices.com.au

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Level 19 
2 Riverside Quay
Southbank 
Victoria 3006
Australia
Telephone +61 3 8603 1000
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